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Acknowledgement of Country

Aeeris proudly acknowledges the Traditional Owners of
Country throughout Australia and New Zealand, and
their continuing connection to the lands and waterways
upon which we depend and where our businesses
operate.
We pay our respects to their Elders, past and present
and emerging.

Special thanks to our team for supplying the
imagery throughout this Annual Report.
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The technology we use from EWN gives us an
advantage – instead of coming across unexpected

hazards caused by weather, we have access to
live data which allows us to 

re-evaluate decision-making and stay on schedule
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3,907,216 
SMS alerts sent

HIGHLIGHTS FOR FY23

100%
staff retention

entry into the renewable
energy market

all critical
services moved

to cloud

servicing every
state & territory
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 $3,028,001
record revenue of$2,581,492

cash at bank
as at 30 June 2023



This financial year has been one of
transformation and growth. Over the
past 18 months, we have strategically
expanded our team from 13 to 23,
bringing onboard some of the
industry's most exceptional talents.
These additions have already seen
improvements across all facets of our
business operations. 

“We are confident in saying
that the business is poised, not
only for growth and product
innovation, but also for an
increase in our business
revenues.” 

What's even more promising, is our
ability to achieve this growth without
incurring additional expenses beyond
those already budgeted.

The increased focus on developing
new products and marketing strategies
has resulted in an expansion in
business opportunities, leading to
broader market profile for the Aeeris
name. Our pipeline of business
opportunities is expanding, and we are
anticipating new clients to onboard in
the coming months.

The business is well capitalised,
ensuring not only the potential for
growth but also resilience against
unforeseen financial disruptions. 

LETTER FROM THE
CHAIRMAN & CEO

Revenue growth is accelerating, with
annuities forming the bulk. Furthermore,
the application of our services has
broadened, now catering to sectors like
renewables and automotive.

Following the implementation of the
post-COVID strategic plan, the business
has become more streamlined and
proactive. We have expanded
capabilities to manage operations and
marketing, a testament to the team's
effective management. This year, we've
taken bold steps to ensure we remain at
the forefront of natural hazard risk
reduction, always prioritising the needs
of our customers. This is why we
wanted to take this opportunity to
address Climatics. 

It is important to note the changing
regulatory environment. The Climate
Risk Financial Disclosures (CRFD)
regime is likely to see an estimated
23,000 entities in Australia reporting
climate-related disclosures by the end
of 2027, phased in over three years. Our
unique dataset is perfectly situated to
assist this need. 

There is still a lot of confusion regarding
climate risk reporting requirements and
especially physical risks. Much of this
misunderstanding in the market relates
to the inappropriateness of climate
models. 
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When assessing and reporting physical
climate risks, people may think climate
models are the convenient answer, but
this is not what climate models are
designed to do. The role of climate
models is to simulate a variety of
possible outcomes, decades into the
future, using various climate drivers,
forcing equations and low-resolution
physical data to create a composite of
potential scenarios. These models, by
their nature, are quite divergent in
outcomes and are entirely
inappropriate to use for real world
decision making. 

Climatics takes an entirely different
approach, delivering risk analysis and
exposure assessment based on
empirical data and real-world
observations. Our spatialised dataset
on physical climate risk is the most
comprehensive real-world repository in
Australia. We have spent years
researching and mapping this data and
it is the basis of all assessments in
Climatics and is a valued component
for our users. 

According to the IPCC, “the climate
system is a coupled non-linear chaotic
system. As a result, it is not possible to
predict the long-term future climate
states with certainty.”
This message resonates with our
objective of delivering decision-useful
data. Businesses should avoid relying
solely on climate models to assess

physical risks within a time frame of five
to ten years. Instead, they should focus
on empirical risk quantifications that are
specific to their vulnerabilities. This
approach can help avoid bad decisions
that could potentially imperil the
business and create liabilities for
directors and management. 

Climatics, and other investments we've
made over the past 12 months are not
just about short-term gains; they are a
reflection of our long-term vision for
Aeeris Ltd and EWN. We are building a
legacy of excellence, trust, and
innovation.

Our team is made up of skilled and
experienced individuals, many of which
have been with us since inception and
others who have joined us along the
way. Their work ethic, dedication, and
creative capabilities are building a great
business. 

To our Board of Directors, many thanks
for your continued support, work and
diligence in helping to grow the
business. And to our shareholders, many
of which have been with us since we
first listed, thank you for your
commitment, trust and support. 

As we look to the future, we are
confident that with this incredible team,
Board, and community of shareholders
by our side, the best is yet to come.

Bryce Reynolds Kerry Plowright
NON-EXECUTIVE CHAIRMAN  CEO
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largest
Renewed contracts with the

grocery retailer in Australia

OUR COMPANY

37.5%
Early Warning Network (EWN) was founded in 2007, providing early
severe weather warnings to customers directly, bypassing the need
for them to find the information online or through traditional media.
EWN expanded their climate and weather data offerings, and in
2015, Aeeris Ltd was founded and publicly listed on the ASX, with
EWN becoming a subsidiary.

As the parent company, Aeeris brings vision and high-level
guidance to EWN, aligning it with the mission and strategic direction
of Aeeris, and assisting in identifying other potential opportunities
in the market.

The past 12 months has seen the creation and implementation of
strong visionary goals across all areas of the business, and the
prioritising of investments which aim to improve operations to
better serve our customers, acquire new accounts and increase
operating efficiencies for the long term. 

During FY24, Aeeris will continue to execute the organisational
vision including establishing partnerships, strengthening brand
presence, increasing market share and focusing on employee
wellbeing. 

Increase in employee
headcount across sales,
marketing, partnerships, 

and operations
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MISSION

HOW DO WE CREATE COMPANY VALUE?

Our mission is to provide excellence in early
climatic warnings and hazard reduction
technologies to assist asset owners and
managers mitigate risk and protect people.

We recognise our people make our company, and encourage 
them to excel by creating supportive and inclusive
workplaces with opportunities for training, upskilling and
career advancement.

Aeeris companies partner with leaders in climate data and
weather intelligence products, and customers who are
committed to providing superior service in line with our
company values.

Build Strong
Brands

Empower Our
People

Partner With
Excellence

We are actively building global brands through EWN & Climatics.
Through actioning comprehensive strategic Plans, we aim to
deliver the best customer experience across our brands.

To be the leader in the protection of people,
property, infrastructure and business
operations through the delivery of accurate
weather and climate data and insights.

 VISION
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OUR VALUES

TEAMWORK

We are inclusive and
work together to

achieve exceptional
outcomes

RECOGNITION

We recognise
individuals and
celebrate their

successes

ACCOUNTABILITY

We live our values
and take

accountability for
our performance

RESPECT

We treat all staff and
customers with

fairness, equality and
respect



OUR PEOPLE

James Harris
Chief Operating Officer
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In our mission to increase innovation and
accelerate business growth, we have been
proud to invest further in our team, growing
from 16 to 22 full time employees across
Australia and New Zealand during FY23.

We proudly embrace remote work, allowing us
to connect to the best industry talent, no
matter the location, and giving our team
valuable work-life balance. Our continued
success relies on our people, and we are
committed to providing an environment which
supports and positively contributes to the
mental health and well-being of our employees. 

Kerry Plowright
CEO

As the founder of Aeeris and
The Early Warning Network,
Kerry has been the key
driver behind the
development of the
Company’s technology.
Kerry’s current focus is on AI
and looking at how Aeeris
can maximise the technology
to grow our services further.

James moved into the COO
role in February 2023 and
has prioritised reviewing
the business operations
and creating strategies to
maximise growth and
optimise its success.  FY24
will see a continued focus
on strategy execution and
growth, working closely
with each department.

Michael Bath
Head of Operations

Ensuring all systems are
100% available for clients and
teams has been a key focus
for Michael, along with
streamlining & enhancing
systems & procedures.
Further enhancements are
scheduled for FY24, along
with the development &
implementation of new
products.

The creation of the Aeeris / EWN Leadership Team this year has successfully built a strong foundation to
deliver strategic direction and company growth, and ensure we remain fully aligned with our company’s
culture, misson and core values.
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Martin Katzmann
Business Development
Manager

Dave Evans
IT Manager

Matt Pearce
Head of Product &
Partnerships

Daniel Hill
Key Account Manager

Kathryn Turner
Lead Climate Scientist

Emily Vernon
Marketing Coordinator

Daniel began with EWN in
2023 with a focus on
strengthening relationships
with existing customers. He
is aiming to enhance their
product experience further
in FY24, along with building
new customer connections. 

Kat has worked on improving
user experience for Climatics
and increasing its scientific
offering during the past year.
She will be introducing new
features based on user
feedback and expanding
product markets during FY24.

Joining in June 2023, Emily is
increasing brand awareness
and market reach. She will be
growing our online presence
and creating content to
position Aeeris brands as
thought leaders, in line with
strategic plans.

Matt has led extensive product
audits & client feedback
sessions to learn areas of
focus, & to assist in identifying
key partnership opportunities.
In the coming year, he will
formalise new partner
agreements, increase our
customer base in NZ, & drive
semi-automation projects.

Martin has streamlined internal
sales operations and efficiency
procedures while establishing
new target markets for our key
services. He will continue to
develop existing relationships &
accelerate revenue growth,
while increasing customer on-
boarding and market
awareness in FY24.

As IT Manager and Lead
Developer, Dave has
modernised the GNIS &
further added to the IT
team. He will continue to
solve and automate existing
problems within systems &
workflows, along with  
improving & expanding our
product offering.



FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
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5 consecutive years of

positive 
growth

Annuity Revenue
$

FY21

FY22

FY23

$1.9m

$2.293m

$2.462m

20%
growth in customer

base

The Company has 

no debt
at at 30 June 2023

currently servicing

33
industries

166% growth
of ARR in our top

performing product



FINANCIAL & CORPORATE
ACTIVITIES
FY23 saw further increases in our total revenue as we continued to
expand our customer acquisition whilst continuing to grow our
services portfolio. 

With the strategic appointment of a new Business Development
Manager in February 2022, we experienced a substantial surge in
sales activities throughout the first half of FY23. Both total revenue
and Annual Recurring Revenue (ARR) demonstrated robust growth,
marking some of the most impressive rates of growth in our history.

Revenue streams were diversified, with contributions coming
predominantly from our Hail, Embargo, and forecasting service
lines.

Our Hail and Embargo offerings maintain a leadership position within the industry, and we are committed
to further product enhancements and innovations slated for FY24.

During the latter half of Fiscal Year 2023, the organisation encountered a transitory deceleration in sales
momentum, primarily due to several external and internal factors. Firstly, the rate of new client
acquisition experienced a moderation, influenced by prevailing economic uncertainties that led
prospective clients to defer their purchasing decisions.

Additionally, our Annual Recurring Revenue (ARR) was adversely impacted as one of our significant
accounts concluded their service engagement. 

We are taking these developments into account as we refine our strategic plans and operational focus
for Fiscal Year 2024.

revenue streams

Introduction of business
software including

As we transition into FY24, we are observing
encouraging signs indicative of renewed growth.
Our sales team are now comprehensively trained
and invested in the Aeeris/EWN product suite and
are strategically poised to drive revenue to new
heights. They have been assisted by the creation
of a new Marketing Coordinator role in an
endeavour to amplify our lead-generation

capabilities and refine our brand narrative. This role serves to complement our existing sales activities,
fostering a more streamlined and effective lead-to-revenue pipeline.

We are now in the strongest position we have been to maximise and turn our new leads into new clients.
We have a renewed focus in retaining and managing existing clients, ensuring they are well cared for
whilst looking at new services to assist their business needs. 

This strategic alignment across departments and favourable market dynamics position us well for robust
performance in FY24.

Diversified

CRM, SEO &
DESIGN
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OPERATIONS REVIEW

OUR CAPABILITIES

Regional Alerts
Location Alerts
Forecast Alerts
Observational Alerts
Branded Alerts
Radar Derived Rainfall Alerts

ALERTING
Tailored and verified alert service for all
natural hazard threats in Australia. Includes:

FORECASTING
Time-critical, customised weather forecasts
for all weather events, and long-range
outlooks to enhance business planning.

EMBARGO
Meteorologist-verified alerts are sent to our
Embargo Alert Service, fully automated into
customers’ systems through API. 

Hail Forecasting
Live HailTracker
Live Hail Alerts
Post-event Reporting

HAIL
The leading hail technology in Australia,
partnering exclusively through Aeeris / EWN.
Products include: 

GIS PLATFORM
Web-based weather and hazard monitoring
platform for organisations wanting 24x7
forecast and observational intelligence.

FLOOD
Flood forecasting, monitoring, and alerting
services, tailored to customers’ criteria for
amounts of rainfall or water level heights. Forecasting

Observations
Post-Event Reporting

API
Customised application programming
interface (API) allowing access to our systems
and display of EWN data directly into
customers’ systems. Currently available for:

CLIMATICS
Australia’s most comprehensive climate data
platform, aggregating historical severe
weather hazards and warnings to provide an
overall picture of both short term physical risk
and longer term climate projections.

LIGHTNING
Lightning tracking and customised Lightning
Alerts allow for tailored Lightning Alert Zones
for customers, alerting users to approaching
thunderstorm activity.
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VIII

OPERATIONS REVIEW

Our alerting services have been boosted by the
addition of Heatwave and Radar Derived Rainfall
alerts this year.  
 
Statistically the number one cause of death as a
result of natural hazards in Australia, heatwaves
historically have seen a lack of formal alert
systems to address this critical issue. The
addition of these alerts allows for Aeeris / EWN
to provide a complete package for all natural
hazard threats in Australia. Our clients in the
aged care sector have been extremely receptive
to the new heatwave alerts as majority of their
clients are very susceptible. 
 
Radar Derived Rainfall alerts (RDR) is a powerful
new alerting technology that has already been
taken up by a number of our clients in the rail
and transport industries. RDR technology
leverages Australia’s existing weather radar
network to scan and detect rainfall totals over
the entire network and will move towards
superseding older rain gauge installations.

Rain gauge installations need to be installed and
maintained, with the major issue being that they
only provide a source of data for that one
specific point of location.  For many of our
logistics clients, their corridors stretch for
hundreds of kilometres with only a small number
of gauges to cover the distance. This means
isolated rainfall and flash flood events are often
missed leading to damage and asset
vulnerability.

RDR fixes this by providing coverage for the
entire corridor and therefore detecting all
events and preventing accidents before they
occur in areas not covered by rain gauges. 

Aeeris is proud to have launched this new
technology which is a game changer for a
number of industries. 
 
We are actively reviewing our alerting
mechanisms and are currently in the process of
semi-automating our procedures with the
assistance of AI to allow for even greater
efficiency. 

We are excited at the potential capabilities AI
will bring to our alerting expertise and look
forward to providing further news closer to
release. 

ALERTING

Our product offerings were further solidified in FY23 with continued investment in and updating of
our technologies which underpin our products. Our focus in the coming year will continue to be on
products which provide customers with accurate weather and hazard data, allowing for critical
decisions to be made when protecting people and assets. 

During the last 12 months, EWN alerting
operations team monitored, filtered and
validated over 20,000 alerts across
Australia and New Zealand - with 100%
send success rate.

20,000
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We continued to see an increase in adoption of
our forecasting services as customers recognise
the importance of having time-critical,
customised forecasts based on their own
thresholds. The main focus of our forecasting is
on significant weather events that official
warnings are often not issued for. Our forecasts
allow a far greater understanding of weather
events for our customers in detail. We ensure
our customers continue to remain safe whilst
maximising their operational usage time well
ahead, and immediately after an event.

Tropical Cyclone Outlooks have been added to
our forecasting suite, providing our customers
with longer range Tropical Cyclone forecasts.
The additional headway provided by these
outlooks allows our customers to plan in
advance and be proactive rather than reactive
to disasters.

Aeeris has started trials of AI forecasting tools in
conjunction with our severe weather expert
meteorologists. AI forecasting, whilst in its early
days, continues to be developed and forms a big
part of our future. We are excited at some of the
new technology being developed, and look
forward to working with our customers to
implement newer technology.

FORECASTING

The GIS Platform has been successful in
providing a visual overview with integrated
asset reporting to our clients for over 8 years. 
It is currently coming towards the end of its
lifecycle with discussions currently underway on
potential future options. These include working
with our existing partners in a combined new
technology platform integrating exclusive data
including hail on top of our current offering. 

We continue to scope out data sources and look
to expand further during FY24.

Additionally, we are also currently in trials with
another company providing new AI powered
impact-based GIS forecasting services
integrated with EWN data. Early indications from
clients and new leads trialling the platform have
been overwhelmingly positive, and will see EWN
providing the most powerful impact-based GIS
forecasting available in Australia. 

GIS PLATFORM



Our Embargo service continued to strengthen
this year, with further upgrades now allowing
the service to be fully automated into our
customers’ systems through our API. This
allows users to set up automatic systems
internally to read the data and instantly put in
place their procedures, saving them valuable
hours. 

We continue to work closely with our customers
in the insurance industry to further develop
technology to assist their operations as
catastrophic events rise in frequency and
intensity. We are also proud to be involved in
upcoming industry workshops focused on these
issues.

EMBARGO

Our Embargo Service
is used by the 4 leading
insurance companies in
Australia

Our flood forecasting, monitoring and alerting
services have seen an increase in customers
as the effects of a triple La Nina across
Australia brought record floods to parts of the
country. 

We are currently working with a new flood
partner to increase our flood offering and
provide new services to customers, allowing
them to visually determine flood impacts
before and whilst they occur. This new
technology will allow Aeeris to provide the
most capable all round flood service available
in Australia. 

FLOOD

We have seen a significant uptake of our new
hail technology exclusively available through
Aeeris across Australia. Throughout the main
storm season across Australia, our hail solutions
saved customers millions of dollars in potential
damage and destruction to assets with
advanced warning of hail.

We have now added a new hail tracker service
to our hail solution package, allowing customers
to view and track in real time hail storms as they
develop, interrogating the location and size of
hail in each storm, plus the direction and time of
impact, up to an hour in advance.

APIs have been developed this year, and are
now available for our customers to ingest and
utilise our hail information in their internal
systems.

HAIL

Our proprietary alerting system, the Geographical
Notification Information System (GNIS), went
through a significant major upgrade throughout
the year, moving the system onto cloud
infrastructure. This was a significant achievement
for our IT team, involving months of hard work to
ensure our operations team continued to run 24/7
during the migration phase. The move has seen a
significant boost in system performance, ensuring
customers can now receive critical information
faster than ever before.

The addition of new programming resources this
year allowed for significant upgrades focused on
further modernisation and a continued focus on
system security. 

GNIS
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hail alerts sent 
during FY23

1,687



Our staff prevented approximately 

82.06 tonnes
of carbon dioxide equivalent (tCO2e)

from entering the atmosphere by
working remotely

Our Values in Action

Our distributed workforce not only ensures
business continuity, but also enhances our
teams' work experience, promoting work-life
balance and flexibility.

The widespread adoption of online meeting
tools has significantly diminished the necessity
for in-person meetings, leading to marked
improvements in productivity which has not
only fostered a healthier workplace
environment, but also minimised our ecological
footprint, underscoring our commitment to
sustainability.

ENVIRONMENT

The primary mission of Aeeris and its brands is the safeguarding of lives, assets, and operations
from natural events. Our commitment to Environmental, Social, and Corporate Governance (ESG) is
both intrinsic and natural, and will continue to be a driver for differentiation. 

Our company values and practices reflect our consideration for people and planet. We understand
that it is essential that our businesses look after our team members, anticipate the needs of our
customers, take care of the environment, and act with honesty and integrity. 

Our core business is mitigating the impact of
climatic risk. With 24/7 coverage, our 'always
on' capability ensures timely notifications and
forecasts, and is a testament to our dedication
to environmental responsiveness. 

Our operational model ensures uninterrupted
service, even in the face of extreme events,
reinforcing our commitment to environmental
resilience.

As our team members work every day with
climate data, managing resources
responsibly resonates throughout our
business, flowing through to our customers
and suppliers. We are keenly aware of
climate and environmental issues, and
continue to look for ways that we can
incorporate strategies and practices to lower
our environmental footprint.

SOCIAL 

We are committed to cultivating a climate of
ethical behaviour and business practice. We
recognise the impact our operations have on
a range of stakeholders, from the
communities in which we operate to the
global environment at large. As a result, we
aim to actively contribute to social
betterment. 

of our staff volunteer for 
charity groups or organisations

one third

This means creating a workplace that champions
diversity, equality, and inclusion; implementing
ethical and sustainable supply chain
management practices; and engaging with our
communities through philanthropy and service.
Our aim is to foster a culture of responsibility
that creates lasting social and ethical value.
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We recognise that while working remotely, our
staff may experience feelings of isolation or
disconnection, and so in response, we continue
to introduce initiatives to improve employee
wellbeing and satisfaction.

Our Employee Assistance Program was
introduced during FY23, giving staff access to
mental health professionals at no charge. We
foster an open and inclusive work environment,
and encourage staff to create boundaries
between their work and their personal life.
Monthly “Lunch & Learn” sessions give all staff
an opportunity to learn about the roles people
play in the team, and events such as weekly
virtual catch ups and in-person strategic
planning days aim to create a sense of
teamwork and belonging.

We will continue to introduce initiatives which
support our team, improve their mental health
and their engagement with Aeeris brands.

In the later part of FY23, we introduced our
Modern Slavery Statement. It is estimated that
41,000 people in Australia are currently living
with modern slaveryy ensuring we adhere to
our statement, we meet our responsibility to
running a safe, accountable and profitable
business.

Our commitment to social causes is further
exemplified by our support for first responders.
We offer our services free of charge to
emergency services, especially volunteers - a
practice we've upheld since our inception. As
we continue to grow and evolve, our hope is to
further improve on our efforts to both our
customers and the environment.

GOVERNANCE

Red Cross, local Rivercare groups,
Foodbank and Sea Shepherd

Australia are just some of the groups
our staff volunteer their time at

At Aeeris, we believe that strong corporate
governance is the foundation upon which we
build a culture of integrity, accountability, and
transparency, and we are committed to
implementing governance practices that align
with the values we share with our stakeholders.

Board Structure and Diversity
Our board of directors consists of a balanced
mix of individuals, and we strive for diversity.
Varied perspectives bring invaluable insights
into our strategic planning and risk
management.

Ethics and Compliance
We operate under a comprehensive Code of
Conduct, regularly reviewed and updated to
align with our evolving business. Employees are
trained on compliance and ethical behaviour,
and we encourage open channels of
communication to report any concerns without
fear of retribution.

Shareholder Engagement
Our shareholders are integral to our
governance model. We facilitate open dialogue
through regular investor meetings, annual
general meetings, and one-on-one
consultations. Our governance policies and
practices are communicated transparently to
ensure shareholders have the insights they
need to make informed decisions.

Risk Management
We have instituted robust risk management
policies that evaluate not only financial risks,
but also the impact of our operations on society
and the environment. This holistic approach
allows us to anticipate and mitigate a wide
range of risks, safeguarding our long-term
sustainability.
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The business is well capitalised,
ensuring not only the potential for
growth but also resilience against

unforeseen financial disruptions

Bryce Reynolds - Non-Executive Chairman



STRATEGIES AND
PRIORITIES
Throughout FY23 a full review was undertaken of the business, identifying a number of
opportunities to assist with increasing company performance and revenue into the future. 

The review identified our main challenges included:

Engagement of new Account
Manager to manage and

grow existing clients,
allowing the 

Business Development
Manager to focus on

customer acquisitions.

Creation of Marketing Manager to focus on creation,
implementation and ongoing management of our new
marketing plan, directed toward targeted industries. 
Running focused campaigns on Climatics and Hail as

well as raising our brand voice and awareness.

Implementing AI Research
and Development team Creation of new

Product/Partnership
Manager role, focusing on

new partnerships and
technology, product review

and management of
products into the future.

 Growing product revenue.

 Working with existing clients
to understand and plan for

their future needs.

Additional resources within
the IT team to assist with

infrastructure management
and new development

As a result of this review, a strategy was put together that focused on addressing each of these
challenges with the goal of positioning ourselves in the best place possible for future strategic and
revenue growth.

Key elements of our strategy included:

IT Infrastructure
assistance &

management, now
& in the future

Product
Management &

future technology

Company and
Product Marketing
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The highlighted additions coincided with a structure change internally, including a new Leadership
group created to see through our growth strategy for FY24 and beyond. 

Whilst we will see an increase in costs and tightening of margins during Q1 of FY24 with additional
wages and expenditure associated with implementing our strategy, we expect to see increased ARR
throughout the second half of the year.

We are confident we have created a solid foundation for future profitability, focused on increasing
revenue growth and taking Aeeris to the next level.

Aeeris Ltd | Annual Report 2023XXII

STRATEGIES AND
PRIORITIES

Our sales team is putting in place a number of initiatives aimed at
increasing our presence in the market, and generating new revenue
opportunities. Previously we had relied on inbound leads without much
external presence. Whilst this has been generating good results, we
want to take this to the next level, creating great results and ensuring
the right people know who we are. 

The Company has identified a number of conferences and industry
events during FY24, which we will attend and utilise speaker spots,
presentations and networking events to increase our presence in the
market and ensure our solutions are seen and heard across key
industries.

We are strengthening our relationships with existing clients, and will
implement workshops with our leading clients to help understand and
provide solutions to the issues they currently face in our changing
climate.

Aeeris is reviewing several key industry associations, with a view of our
brands joining them, and being involved in the conversations around
challenges we face. We have recently become a member of Floodplain
Management Australia, and are already seeing new opportunities arise
from both potential clients and partners. 

SALES

Renewed contracts
with Australia’s

biggest wholesale
broadband provider 

Dedicated Account
Manager established

Growth in insurance
industry customers



With the strategic onboarding of our Head of Products and Partnerships, we have begun to build
relationships with business entities who share our industry focus, particularly those that are at the
forefront of technological innovation.

We are presently engaged in discussions with a number of market-leading enterprises and
organisations, with the objective of integrating specialised expertise in areas such as AI-based
forecasting, flood analytics, and bushfire information. Negotiations are also in advanced stages to
diversify the distribution channels for our data through inclusion in several new platforms.

STRATEGIES AND
PRIORITIES

Our newly created Marketing team has
demonstrated notable achievements in a
relatively short time. Efforts will be intensified
in FY24. With extreme events becoming more
prevalent over the last few years, Aeeris is in
the perfect position to provide our customers
with advanced knowledge to assist with future
planning. 

Running targeted product and
advertising campaigns across
multiple channels

Refreshing both Aeeris & EWN
websites to maximise brand
identity and product offerings

Enhancing ESG Framework,
further positioning Aeeris
brands as industry leaders

Identifying industry events and
suporting sales in maximising
exposure and attendance

Establishing the Climatics
brand as a leader and
expanding brand recognition

Creating complete product
collateral suite to support
potential sales

Historically, the business has struggled with
effective market communication. This year we
aim to address this through our strategic
framework themed "Amplifying Our Corporate
Voice."

In close collaboration with our Sales team,
Marketing will spearhead a series of initiatives
designed to advance this objective, including:

MARKETING

PARTNERSHIPS
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The Climatics 
Platform uses

213
metrics across

11
hazards
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CLIMATICS

Climatics has seen significant development
throughout the year, allowing it to continue to
be the most comprehensive physical climate
risk and exposure tool available in Australia.
 
We have successfully upgraded the platform’s
power allowing faster processing of client’s
assets, regardless of the number. This feature
means our customers are able to run bulk
reports for all their assets, and receive
immediate and accurate physical climate
exposure and risk ratings reports for each
location.
 
Data from phase 6 of the Coupled Model
Intercomparison Project (CMIP6) has been
added to Climatics which gives customers
access to long-term climate model data easily
through our API. The CMIP6 data has been
designed to complement Climatics’ physical
risk metrics, and it provides a valuable and
unique comparison of present trends, in
comparison to the longer-term trends in the
climate projections.
 

Our proprietary event data underpinning
Climatics continues to be tested and refined by
our operations team, with new data constantly
added as events occur. The data used by
Climatics to create physical risk reporting is
unique, and is highly valuable based on its
spatial event mapping, unlike other systems
using less localised methods.

Based on client feedback, further work is being
undertaken on additional reporting outputs, as
well as expanding our potential market with the
addition of a B2C offering.
 
Climatics is now in a strong position to provide
customers across many sectors in  Australia
with immediate physical risk reporting and
analysis of 11 major perils. Our data is currently
being used by a number of companies to
support the physical risk reporting of their
assets. By July 2024, this will be required as
part of the TCFD’s mandatory climate reporting
for business across Australia. We look forward
to continuing to grow, as we assist our
customers through these new regulations.
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Aeeris Ltd  
ABN 18 166 705 595 

and Controlled Entities 
 
Directors’ Report 
 
Your Directors present their report on the consolidated entity (the “Group”) consisting of Aeeris Ltd (the 
“Company”) and its controlled entities (the “Group”) for the financial year ended 30 June 2023. 
  
General Information 
 
Directors 
The following persons were Directors of Aeeris Ltd during or since the end of the financial year up to the 
date of this report: 
 
Mr Bryce Reynolds – Non-Executive Chairman 
Mr Kerry Plowright – CEO 
Mr Nathan Young – Non-Executive Director 
Ms. Elissa Hansen – Non-Executive Director and Company Secretary 
 
Particulars of each director’s experience and qualifications are: 
 

Kerry Plowright   
Qualifications  None 
Experience  In 2007 Kerry founded the Early Warning Network’s Geographical 

Notification and Information System (GNIS) and has been the key 
driver behind the development of the Group’s technology 
platform. Kerry is responsible for leading the Aeeris team in both 
the operation and further technical evolution of the EWN 
platform.  
 
Previously an Army Officer, Founder-Editor of NZ Green Magazine 
and Director of Earthtrust South Pacific, he has a depth of 
experience in establishing and growing successful businesses. In 
1995 he launched a digital publishing and software business called 
Ezimerchant, which created one of the world’s first out-of-the-box 
e-commerce and DIY product and payments platforms. 

Interest in Shares and Options  23,407,803 Shares 
950,000 Performance Rights 

Special Responsibilities  CEO 
Directorships held in other listed 
entities during the three years 
prior to the current year 

 None 
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Bryce Reynolds   
Qualifications  B. Comm (Accounting/Finance) UNSW 
Experience  In 2006, Bryce established Veritas Securities Limited as a founding 

director after working for a large investment bank and two mid 
tiered Australian securities firms. Since then, he has further added 
to his skill base by being an active company director for numerous 
private ventures in the funds management and IT/digital field. 

Interest in Shares and Options  5,361,320 Shares 
625,000 Performance Rights 
3,540,000 Options 

Special Responsibilities  Non-Executive Chairman 
Directorships held in other listed 
entities during the three years 
prior to the current year 

 None 

 
Nathan Young   
Qualifications  B. Comm 
Experience  Nathan began his career in financial markets over 20 years ago. He 

holds a Bachelor of Commerce from The University of Melbourne 
and a Graduate Diploma in Applied Finance and Investment. He 
has previously been employed by a large Investment Bank and 
Hedge Fund focused on trading and investment strategies. In 
these organisations one of his roles was to evaluate seed capital, 
pre-IPO and listed investment opportunities in the technology 
sector. 

Interest in Shares and Options  500,000 Shares 
500,000 Performance Rights 

Special Responsibilities  Chairman of the Audit and Risk Committee 
Directorships held in other listed 
entities during the three years 
prior to the current year 

 None 

 
Elissa Hansen   
Qualifications  B.Comm, Gdip.AppCorGov, GAICD, FGIA 
Experience  Elissa is a Chartered Secretary with over twenty years’ experience 

advising management and boards of ASX listed companies on 
governance, investor relations and other corporate issues. She has 
worked with boards and management of a range of ASX listed 
companies including assisting companies through the IPO process.  
Elissa is a Chartered Secretary who brings best practice 
governance advice, ensuring compliance with the Listing Rules, 
Corporations Act and other relevant legislation. 

Interest in Shares and Options  175,000 Shares 
500,000 Performance Rights 

Special Responsibilities  Company Secretary and Member of the Audit and Risk Committee 
Directorships held in other listed 
entities during the three years 
prior to the current year 

 Zoono Group Limited and  
QMines Limited 
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Principal Activities 
The principal activity of the consolidated group during the financial year was enterprise asset and people 
protection technologies. 
 
Significant Changes to Activities 
No significant changes in the nature of the principal activities occurred during the financial year. 
 
Operating Results 
The consolidated loss of the consolidated group amounted to $186,776 (2022: Loss of $211,295) after 
providing for income tax. 
 
Review of Operations 
Aeeris Limited is one of the World’s leading aggregators of geospatial data and provides unique location- 
based Safety, Operations Management, Severe Weather and All Hazards data and content services.  
 
The Group’s Early Warning Network (EWN) platform and proprietary Spatial Analysis Risk Platform (SARP) 
technology system enables Aeeris to provide a range of critical services - live data, content, alerts and 
notifications on natural and man-made hazards affecting its clients, and digital tracking, mapping and 
monitoring of assets and personnel.   
 
Additionally, the Group’s Climatics platform, Australia’s most comprehensive database of historic acute and 
chronic severe weather hazards and warnings, identifies changes in event intensity and severity and season 
duration at any location since 1911.  Combined with an organisations’ vulnerability and exposure 
information, it assists companies with physical risk reporting. 
 
The Group’s services solve natural disaster awareness problems and promote personal and employee 
safety, asset protection, risk management, as well as helping to mitigate the financial impact of adverse 
events.  The SARP system is globally scalable. 
 
Aeeris is listed on ASX with the ticker code AER. 
 
Financial Position 
The net assets of the consolidated group have decreased by $186,776 from 30 June 2022 to $2,204,096 in 
2023. This decrease is largely due to decreases of $157,723 in cash and cash equivalents, trade and other 
receivables of $50,957 offset by decrease in trade payables of $51,906 and increase in provisions of 
$38,619. 
 
Significant Changes in State of Affairs 
There were no significant changes in the state of affairs of the parent entity during the financial year. 
 
Events After the Reporting Period 
There have been no events after the reporting period. 
 
Cyber Security 
The Group operates all systems and holds all data in Australian based data centres provisioned by either 
Microsoft Azure (Azure) or Amazon Web Services (AWS). Aeeris constantly evaluates and upgrades its 
security and is currently migrating all of its solutions to managed services from Azure and AWS to reduce 
the Company’s cyber security risk associated with legacy systems. Strong security hygiene practices are 
enforced throughout the Company.  
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Future Developments, Prospects and Business Strategies 
Current areas of strategic focus of the Group include the following: 

• Focus on converting the pipeline of potential clients and on-boarding new customer referrals and 
lines of enquiry for forecasting, alerting and climate risk reporting. Several of these prospects may 
be material if realised. 

• Further development of the Climatics platform to increase sales opportunities. 
• Consider the replication/expansion of the Groups’ alerting, forecasting and real time data to other 

jurisdictions. 
 
Environmental Issues 
The Group’s operations are not regulated by any significant environmental regulations under the laws of 
the Commonwealth or of a state or territory in Australia. 
 
Dividends Paid or Recommended 
No dividends were paid or declared since the start of the financial period. No recommendation for payment 
of dividends has been made. 
 
Insurance of Directors and Officers 
The Company has entered into an agreement to insure the Directors and Officers of the Company.  The 
liabilities insured are legal costs that may be incurred defending civil or criminal proceedings that may be 
brought against the Directors and Officers in their capacity as officers of the entity, and any other payments 
arising from liabilities incurred by the Officers in connection with such proceedings, other than where such 
liabilities arise out of conduct involving a wilful breach of duty by the Officers or the improper use by the 
Officers of their position or of information to gain advantage for themselves or someone else or to cause 
detriment to the Company. 
 
Indemnifying Officers or Auditor 
The Company has agreed to indemnify and keep indemnified Directors and Officers against any liability: 
incurred in connection with, or as a consequence of the director or officer acting in that capacity, including 
representing the Company on any body corporate; and for legal costs incurred in defending an action in 
connection with or as a consequence of the Director or officer acting in that capacity. 
 
The indemnity only applies to the extent of the amount that the Directors are not indemnified under any 
other indemnity, including an indemnity contained in any insurance policy taken out by the Company, 
under the general law or otherwise. 
 
The indemnity does not extend to any liability: 

• to the Company or a related body corporate of the Company; 
• arising out of conduct of the Directors or Officers involving a lack of good faith; or 
• which is in respect of any negligence, default, breach of duty or breach of trust of which the 

Directors or Officers may be guilty in relation to the Company or related body corporate. 
 

No liability has arisen under these indemnities as at the date of this report. No indemnities have been given 
or insurance premiums paid during or since the end of the financial year, for any person who is or has been 
an auditor of the Company.  



 

Aeeris Ltd             ABN 18 166 705 595 Page 7 

Proceedings on Behalf of the Company 
No person has applied for leave of court to bring proceedings on behalf of the Company or intervene in any 
proceedings to which the Company is a party for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the 
Company for all or any part of those proceedings. 
 
The Company was not a party to any such proceedings during the year. 
 
Auditor’s Independence Declaration 
The lead auditor’s independence declaration for the year ended 30 June 2023 has been received and can be 
found on page 12 of the financial report. 
 
Options 
At the date of this report, there were 3,540,000 unissued ordinary shares of Aeeris Ltd under option. 
Options are detailed in Note 22. 
  
There have been no options granted over unissued shares or interests of any controlled entity within the 
Group since the end of the reporting period. 
 
Meetings of Directors 
During the financial year, 12 meetings of Directors, excluding committee of Directors were held.  
Attendances by each director during the year were as follows: 
 

 Directors’ Meetings Audit & Risk Committee 
Number eligible to 

attend Number attended Number eligible to 
attend Number attended 

Kerry Plowright 12 12 - - 

Bryce Reynolds 12 12 4 4 

Nathan Young 12 12 4 4 

Elissa Hansen 12 12 4 4 

 
The board comprises of four Directors. 
 
Corporate Governance Statement 
The Company’s corporate governance practices and policies have been made publicly available on the 
Company’s website at www.aeeris.com/corporate_governance.html. 
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Aeeris Ltd  
ABN 18 166 705 595 

and Controlled Entities 
Remuneration Report 
 
Remuneration Policy 
All key management personnel (KMP) and Directors of Aeeris Ltd were engaged on fixed remuneration 
consultancy agreements for the provision of services. 2,250,000 performance rights were issued during the 
period. The Board of Aeeris Ltd believes, given the size and operations of the Company during the period, 
that the remuneration policy to be appropriate.  All KMP, including Executive Directors, are large 
shareholders in the Company in their own right, providing them with appropriate incentives for outstanding 
performance.   
 
All remuneration paid to KMP is valued at the cost to the Company and expensed. 
 
The Board’s policy is to remunerate non-executive Directors at market rates for their time, commitment 
and responsibilities. The Board as a whole determines payments to the non-executive Directors and 
reviews their remuneration annually, based on market practice, duties and accountability. Independent 
external advice may be sought when required. The maximum aggregate amount of fees that can be paid to 
non-executive Directors is subject to approval by shareholders at the annual general meeting and is 
currently $300,000 per annum. 
 
Employment Details of Members of Key Management Personnel (KMP) 
 
 Group KMP Position held 

as at 30 June 
2023 and any 
Change during 

the Year 

Contract Details (Duration and 
Termination) 

Proportions of 
Elements of 

Remuneration 
Related to 

Performance 

Proportions of 
Elements of 

Remuneration 
Not Related to 
Performance 

Mr K Plowright CEO 

• Executive Consulting contract 
with no fixed term. Can be 
terminated with 3 months’ 
notice. 

• As Managing Director, 
exempt from the 
requirement to stand for re-
election as a director. 

- 100% 

Mr B Reynolds Non-Executive 
Chairman 

• Re-election as director 
required every 3 years. 

 
- 100% 

Mr N Young Non-Executive 
Director 

• Re-election as director 
required every 3 years. 

 
- 100% 

Ms E Hansen 

Non-Executive 
Director and 

Company 
Secretary 

• Re-election as director 
required every 3 years. 
 

- 100% 

 
 
The employment terms and conditions of all KMP are formalised in contracts of employment. 
Remuneration Expense Details for the Year Ended 30 June 2023 
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The following table of benefits and payments represents the components of the current year and 
comparative year remuneration expenses for each member of KMP and director of the consolidated group. 
Such amounts have been calculated in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards.  
 
Table of Benefits and Payments for the Year Ended 30 June 2023 
 

 Short Term Benefits Equity-settled Share-based Payments 2023 
 Remuneration Shares/Options/Rights Total 
Mr. K Plowright 1 $134,000 - $134,000 
    
Mr. B Reynolds 1 $24,000 - $24,000 
    
Mr. N Young 1 $24,000 - $24,000 
    
Ms. E Hansen 1, 2 $51,600 - $51,600 
    
 $233,600 - $233,600 

 
Table of Benefits and Payments for the Year Ended 30 June 2022 
 

 Short Term Benefits Equity-settled Share-based Payments 2022 
 Remuneration Shares/Options/Rights Total 
Mr. K Plowright 1 $139,312 - $139,312 
    
Mr. B Reynolds 1 $24,000 - $24,000 
    
Mr. N Young 1 $24,000 - $24,000 
    
Ms E. Hansen 1, 2 $8,600 - $8,600 
    
 $195,912 - $195,912 

 
1 Paid through their related entities, refer Note 24. 
2 Includes director and company secretarial fees from time of appointment as a director. 
 
Securities Received that are Not Performance-Related 
No members of KMP and Directors are entitled to receive securities that are not performance-based as part 
of their remuneration package.  
 
Cash Bonuses, Performance-related Bonuses and Share-Based Payments 
There were no cash bonuses, performance-related bonuses or share based payments paid as remuneration 
to KMP during the period. 
 
Options and Rights Granted as Remuneration 
There were no options or rights issued as remuneration to KMP. 
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KMP Shareholdings 
The number of ordinary shares in Aeeris Ltd held by each KMP and director of the Group during the 
financial year is as follows: 
 

  
 
 

Balance at 1 
July 2022 

 
Granted as 

Remuneration 
during the 

Year 

Issued on 
Exercise of 

Performance 
Rights during 

the Year 

 
 

Other Changes 
during the 

Year 

 
 
 

Balance at 30 
June 2023 

Mr. K Plowright 23,407,803 - - - 23,407,803 

Mr. B Reynolds 5,361,320 - - - 5,361,320 

Mr. N Young 500,000 - - - 500,000 

Ms. E Hansen 175,000 - - - 175,000 

 
KMP Options 
The number of options in Aeeris Ltd held by each KMP and director of the Group during the financial year is 
as follows: 
 

  
Balance at 1 

July 2022 

 
Issued during 

the year 

Exercised 
during the 

year 

Other Changes 
during the 

Year 1 

 
Balance at 30 

June 2023 
Mr. K Plowright - - - - - 

Mr. B Reynolds 3,540,000 - - - 3,540,000 

Mr. N Young - - - - - 

Ms. E Hansen - - - - - 

 
KMP Performance Rights 
The number of performance rights in Aeeris Ltd held by each KMP and director of the Group during the 
financial year is as follows: 
 

  
Balance at 1 

July 2022 

 
Issued during 

the year 

Exercised 
during the 

year 

Other Changes 
during the 

Year 1 

 
Balance at 30 

June 2023 
Mr. K Plowright 950,000 950,000 - (950,000) 950,000 

Mr. B Reynolds 625,000 625,000 - (625,000) 625,000 

Mr. N Young 500,000 500,000 - (500,000) 500,000 

Ms. E Hansen 175,000 500,000 - (175,000) 500,000 

 
1 Performance Rights expired/unvested during the year. 
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Other Equity-related KMP Transactions 
There have been no other transactions involving equity instruments other than those described in the 
tables above relating to options, rights and shareholdings. 

Other Transactions with KMP and/or their Related Parties 
There were no other transactions conducted between the Group and KMP or their related parties, apart 
from those disclosed above relating to equity, compensation or loans, that were conducted other than in 
accordance with normal employee, customer or supplier relationships on terms no more favourable than 
those reasonably expected under arm’s length dealings with unrelated persons. 

This Directors’ report, incorporating the remuneration report, is signed in accordance with a resolution of 
the Board of Directors. 

Chairman: _____________________________________________________ 
Mr Bryce Reynolds 

Dated this 24th day of August 2023 
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AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION UNDER SECTION 307C OF  
THE CORPORATIONS ACT 2001  

TO THE DIRECTORS OF AEERIS LIMITED AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES 
ABN 18 166 705 595 

 

In accordance with section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001, I am pleased to provide the following 

declaration of independence to the directors of Aeeris Limited and controlled entities.  

As the auditor for the audit of the financial report of Aeeris Limited and controlled entities for the year 

ended 30 June 2023, I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been no 

contraventions of: 

i. the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and 

ii. any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 

 

 

 
MNSA Pty Ltd 

 

 
 
Mark Schiliro 
Director 

Sydney 
24th August 2023  
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AEERIS LTD 
ABN 18 166 705 595 

AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES  

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 

 
 

 Notes 
 Consolidated 

30-Jun-2023 
 Consolidated 

30-Jun-2022 
            $           $ 
Revenue from continuing operations      
Revenue 3  2,579,183  2,210,529 
Other income 3  448,818  471,231 
Total Revenue   3,028,001  2,681,760 
      
Expenses      
Consultants and subcontractors   (646,896)  (464,553) 
Depreciation and amortisation expense   (38,855)  (10,215) 
Employee benefits expense 4  (1,552,588)  (1,237,189) 
Finance costs   -  (224) 
Share based payments 22  -  (125,591) 
SMS communication   (160,865)  (181,542) 
Weather reports   (309,155)  (257,496) 
Other expenses from ordinary activities 5  (506,418)  (616,245) 
Total Expenses   (3,214,777)  (2,893,055) 
      
(Loss) before income tax   (186,776)  (211,295) 
Income tax expense 6  -  - 
Net (loss) for the year   (186,776)  (211,295) 
      
Earnings per share      
From continuing operations      
Basic (loss) per share (cents) 10  (0.26)  (0.31) 
Diluted (loss) per share (cents) 10  (0.26)  (0.31) 

 
The above consolidated statement of profit or loss should be read in conjunction with the accompanying 
notes.  
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 AEERIS LTD 
ABN 18 166 705 595 

AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES 
  CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

AS AT 30 JUNE 2023 
  

 
 
 

 Notes 
 Consolidated 

30-Jun-2023 
 Consolidated 

30-Jun-2022 
             $            $ 
Current Assets      
Cash & cash equivalents  11  2,581,492  2,739,215 
Trade & other receivables 12  287,031  337,988 
Prepayments   24,728  14,791 
Total Current Assets   2,893,251  3,091,994 
      
Non-Current Assets      
Property, plant & equipment 14  10,648  11,968 
Total Non-Current Assets   10,648  11,968 
      
Total Assets   2,903,899  3,103,962 
      
Current Liabilities      
Trade & other payables 15  534,112  586,018 
Provisions 16  101,589  66,279 
Total Current Liabilities   635,701  652,297 
      
Non-Current Liabilities      
Provisions 16  64,102  60,793 
Total Non-Current Liabilities   64,102  60,793 
      
Total Liabilities   699,803  713,090 
      
Net Assets   2,204,096  2,390,872 
      
Equity      
Issued capital 17  6,516,861  6,516,861 
Share based payments reserve 27  206,809  206,809 
Accumulated losses 28  (4,519,574)  (4,332,798) 
Total Equity   2,204,096  2,390,872 

 
The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying notes.   
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AEERIS LTD 
ABN 18 166 705 595 

AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES  
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY  

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 
 

 
 

 Notes 

 
Issued 
capital 

Share based 
payments 

reserve 

 
Accumulated 

losses 

 
 

Total 
  $ $ $ $ 

 
Balance at 1 July 2021  5,100,568 81,218 (4,121,503) 1,060,283 
      
(Loss) for the financial year 28 - - (211,295) (211,295) 
      
Issue of shares  1,509,300 - - 1,509,300 
      
Share issue costs  (93,007) - - (93,007) 
      
Issue of options and performance 
rights  - 125,591 - 125,591 
      
Balance at 30 June 2022  6,516,861 206,809 (4,332,798) 2,390,872 

      
Balance at 1 July 2022  6,516,861 206,809 (4,332,798) 2,390,872 
      
(Loss) for the financial year 28 - - (186,776) (186,776) 
      
Balance at 30 June 2023  6,516,861 206,809 (4,519,574) 2,204,096 
      

 
  
The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying notes. 



 
 

Aeeris Ltd             ABN 18 166 705 595 Page 16  

AEERIS LTD 
ABN 18 166 705 595 

AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES 
 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 
 

 
 

 Notes  Consolidated 
30-Jun-2023 

 Consolidated 
30-Jun-2022 

   $  $ 
Cash flow from operating activities      
      
Receipts from customers   2,518,833  2,139,180 
Interest received   59,361  1,266 
Research and Development refund   389,457  469,965 
Payments to suppliers & employees   (3,087,839)  (2,707,754) 
Net cash (used in) operating activities 21  (120,188)  (97,343) 
      
Cash flow from investing activities      
Purchases of property, plant & equipment   (37,535)  (6,693) 
Net cash (used in) investing activities   (37,535)  (6,693) 
      
Cash flow from financing activities      
Proceeds from the issue of shares   -  1,509,300 
Fund raising expense   -  (93,007) 
Net cash provided by financing activities   -  1,416,293 
      
Net (decrease)/increase in cash held   (157,723)  1,312,257 
Cash & cash equivalents at the beginning of the 
financial year 

   
2,739,215 

  
1,426,958 

Cash & cash equivalents at the end of the 
financial year 

 
11 

  
2,581,492 

  
2,739,215 

      
 
The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying 
notes. 
 



AEERIS LTD 
ABN 18 166 705 595 

AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 
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These consolidated financial statements and notes represent those of Aeeris Ltd (the “Company”) and 
Controlled Entities (the “consolidated group” or “group”). 
 
The separate financial statements of the parent entity, Aeeris Ltd, have not been presented within this 
financial report as permitted by the Corporations Act 2001. 
 
The financial statements were authorised for issue on 24 August 2023 by the Directors of the Company. 
 
NOTE 1. Significant Accounting Policies  
 
Basis of Preparation   
These General Purpose consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the 
Corporations Act 2001, Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations of the Australian Accounting 
Standards Board and in compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board. The Group is a for-profit entity for financial reporting purposes 
under Australian Accounting Standards. Material accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these 
financial statements are presented below and have been consistently applied unless stated otherwise. 
 
Except for the cash flow information, the financial statements, have been prepared on an accruals basis and 
are based on historical costs, modified, where applicable, by the measurement at fair value of selected non-
current assets, financial assets and financial liabilities. The amounts presented in the financial statements have 
been rounded to the nearest dollar. 
 
Going Concern 
The accounts have been prepared on the going concern basis, which contemplates continuity of normal 
business activities and the realisation of assets and liabilities in the normal course of business. 
 
The Directors are aware that the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, and its ability to pay its debts 
as and when they fall due, is largely dependent on increases in revenue and successfully managing its short to 
medium term liquidity position. 
 
COVID-19 Impact Assessment on Going Concern 
The Company enjoys a reliable annuity income stream from blue chip customers. This annuity revenue stream 
enables it to map and comfortably manage cashflows for the next 12 months without the assumption of any 
new business. 
 
Principles of Consolidation 
The consolidated financial statements incorporate all of the assets, liabilities and results of the parent (Aeeris 
Ltd) and all of the subsidiaries. Subsidiaries are entities the parent controls. The parent controls an entity when 
it is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to 
affect those returns through its power over the entity. A list of the subsidiaries is provided in Note 13. 
 
The assets, liabilities and results of all subsidiaries are fully consolidated into the financial statements of the 
Group from the date on which control is obtained by the Group. The consolidation of a subsidiary is 
discontinued from the date that control ceases. Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains or 
losses on transactions between group entities are fully eliminated on consolidation. Accounting policies of 
subsidiaries have been changed and adjustments made where necessary to ensure uniformity of the 
accounting policies adopted by the Group. 
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Business Combinations 
Business combinations occur where an acquirer obtains control over one or more businesses and results in the 
consolidation of its assets and liabilities. 

A business combination is accounted for by applying the acquisition method, unless it is a combination 
involving entities or businesses under common control. The business combination will be accounted for from 
the date that control is obtained, whereby the fair value of the identifiable assets acquired, and liabilities 
(including contingent liabilities) assumed, are recognised. 

When measuring the consideration transferred in the business combination, any asset or liability resulting 
from a contingent consideration arrangement is also included. Subsequent to initial recognition, contingent 
consideration classified as equity is not remeasured and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within 
equity. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability is remeasured in each reporting period to fair 
value, recognising any change to fair value in profit or loss, unless the change in value can be identified as 
existing at acquisition date. 

All transaction costs incurred in relation to business combinations, other than those associated with the issue 
of a financial instrument, are recognised as expenses in profit or loss when incurred. 

The acquisition of a business may result in the recognition of goodwill or a gain from a bargain purchase. 

Goodwill 
Goodwill is carried at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is calculated as the excess of the 
sum of:

i. The consideration transferred;
ii. Any non-controlling interest (determined under either the full goodwill or proportionate interest

method); and
iii. The acquisition date fair value of any previously held equity interest; over the acquisition date fair

value of any identifiable assets acquired.

The acquisition date fair value of the consideration transferred for a business combination plus the acquisition 
date fair value of any previously held equity interest shall form the cost of the investment in the separate 
financial statements.

Fair value remeasurements in any pre-existing equity holdings are recognised in profit or loss in the period in 
which they arise. Where changes in the value of such equity holdings had previously been recognised in other 
comprehensive income, such amounts are recycled to profit or loss.

Goodwill on acquisition of subsidiaries is included in intangible assets. Goodwill on acquisition of associates is 
included in investments in associates.

Goodwill is tested for impairment annually and is allocated to the Group’s cash-generating units or groups of 
cash-generating units, representing the lowest level at which goodwill is monitored and not larger than an 
operating segment. Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill 
related to the entity disposed of.

Changes in the ownership interests in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as 
equity transactions and do not affect the carrying amounts of goodwill.
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Income Tax 
The income tax expense for the year comprises current income tax expense and deferred tax expense. 

Current income tax expense charged to profit or loss is the tax payable on taxable income for the current 
period. Current tax liabilities/(assets) are measured at the amounts expected to be paid to/(recovered from) 
the relevant taxation authority using the tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end 
of the reporting period. Deferred income tax expense reflects movements in deferred tax asset and deferred 
tax liability balances during the year as well as unused tax losses. 

Current and deferred income tax expense is charged or credited directly to equity instead of profit or loss 
when the tax relates to items that are recognised outside profit or loss. 

Except for business combinations, no deferred income tax is recognised from the initial recognition of an asset 
or liability where there is no effect on accounting or taxable profit or loss. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when 
the asset is realised, or the liability is settled, and their measurement also reflects the manner in which 
management expects to recover or settle the carrying amount of the related asset or liability. With respect to 
non-depreciable items of property, plant and equipment measured at fair value and items of investment 
property measured at fair value, the related deferred tax liability or deferred tax asset is measured on the 
basis that the carrying amount of the asset will be recovered entirely through sale. 

Deferred tax assets relating to temporary differences and unused tax losses are recognised only to the extent 
that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the benefits of the deferred tax 
asset can be utilised. 

Where temporary differences exist in relation to investments in subsidiaries, branches, associates and joint 
ventures, deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised where the timing of the reversal of the 
temporary difference can be controlled, and it is not probable that the reversal will occur in the foreseeable 
future. 

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset where a legally enforceable right of set-off exists and it is intended 
that net settlement or simultaneous realisation and settlement of the respective asset and liability will occur. 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where: (a) a legally enforceable right of set-off exists; and (b) the 
deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the 
same taxable entity or different taxable entities where it is intended that net settlement or simultaneous 
realisation and settlement of the respective asset and liability will occur in future periods in which significant 
amounts of deferred tax assets or liabilities are expected to be recovered or settled. 

Fair Value of Assets and Liabilities 
The Group measures some of its assets and liabilities at fair value on either a recurring or non-recurring basis, 
depending on the requirements of the applicable Accounting Standard.

Fair value is the price the Group would receive to sell an asset or would have to pay to transfer a liability in an 
orderly transaction between independent, knowledgeable and willing market participants at the measurement 
date. 

As fair value is a market-based measure, the closest equivalent observable market pricing information is used 
to determine fair value. Adjustments to market values may be made having regard to the characteristics of the 
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specific asset or liability. The fair values of assets and liabilities that are not traded in an active market are 
determined using one or more valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximise, to the extent 
possible, the use of observable market data. 

To the extent possible, market information is extracted from either the principal market for the asset or 
liability or, in the absence of such a market, the most advantageous market available to the entity at the end 
of the reporting period. 

For non-financial assets, the fair value measurement also takes into account a market participant’s ability to 
use the asset in its highest and best use or to sell it to another market participant that would use the asset in 
its highest and best use. 

The fair value of liabilities and the entity’s own equity instruments (excluding those related to share-based 
payment arrangements) may be valued, where there is no observable market price in relation to the transfer 
of such financial instruments, by reference to observable market information where such instruments are held 
as assets. Where this information is not available, other valuation techniques are adopted and, where 
significant, are detailed in the respective note to the financial statements.

Property, Plant and Equipment 
Each class of property, plant and equipment is carried at cost or fair value as indicated less, where applicable, 
any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Property 
Freehold land and buildings are carried at their fair value (being the amount for which an asset could be 
exchanged between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction), based on periodic, but at 
least triennial, valuations by external independent valuers, less accumulated depreciation for buildings.

Increases in the carrying amount arising on revaluation of land and buildings are credited to a revaluation 
surplus in equity. Decreases that offset previous increases of the same asset are recognised against 
revaluation surplus directly in equity; all other decreases are recognised in profit or loss.

Any accumulated depreciation at the date of revaluation is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the 
asset and the net amount is restated to the revalued amount of the asset.

Plant and Equipment 
Plant and equipment are measured on the cost basis and therefore carried at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and any accumulated impairment. In the event the carrying amount of plant and equipment is 
greater than the estimated recoverable amount, the carrying amount is written down immediately to the 
estimated recoverable amount and impairment losses are recognised either in profit or loss or as a revaluation 
decrease if the impairment losses relate to a revalued asset. A formal assessment of recoverable amount is 
made when impairment indicators are present.

The carrying amount of plant and equipment is reviewed annually by Directors to ensure it is not in excess of 
the recoverable amount from these assets. The recoverable amount is assessed on the basis of the expected 
net cash flows that will be received from the asset’s employment and subsequent disposal. The expected net 
cash flows have been discounted to their present values in determining recoverable amounts.
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as 
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the 
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Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are recognised as 
expenses in profit or loss during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation 
The depreciable amount of all fixed assets including buildings and capitalised lease assets, but excluding 
freehold land, is depreciated on a straight-line basis over the asset’s useful life to the consolidated group 
commencing from the time the asset is held ready for use. Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the 
shorter of either the unexpired period of the lease or the estimated useful lives of the improvements.

The depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable assets are: 

Class of Fixed Asset Depreciation Rate 
Plant and equipment 5-33%

Plant and equipment leased to external parties 10-20%

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each 
reporting period. 

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying 
amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount. 

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount. These gains 
and losses are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise. When revalued assets are sold, 
amounts included in the revaluation surplus relating to that asset are transferred to retained earnings. 

Financial Instruments 

Initial Recognition and Measurement 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the entity becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions to the instrument. For financial assets, this is the date that the entity commits itself to either the 
purchase or sale of the asset. 

Financial instruments are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs, except where the instrument is 
classified “at fair value through profit or loss”, in which case transaction costs are expensed to profit or loss 
immediately. 
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Classification and Subsequent Measurement 
Financial instruments are subsequently measured at fair value, amortised cost using the effective interest 
method, or cost. 
 
Amortised cost is calculated as the amount at which the financial asset or financial liability is measured at 
initial recognition less principal repayments and any reduction for impairment, and adjusted for any 
cumulative amortisation of the difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount calculated 
using the effective interest method. 
 
The effective interest method is used to allocate interest income or interest expense over the relevant period 
and is equivalent to the rate that discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts (including fees, 
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) over the expected life (or when this cannot be reliably 
predicted, the contractual term) of the financial instrument to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or 
financial liability. Revisions to expected future net cash flows will necessitate an adjustment to the carrying 
amount with a consequential recognition of an income or expense item in profit or loss. 
 
The Group does not designate any interests in subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures as being subject to the 
requirements of Accounting Standards specifically applicable to financial instruments. 

i. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
 
Financial assets are classified at “fair value through profit or loss” when they are held for trading for 
the purpose of short-term profit taking, derivatives not held for hedging purposes, or when they are 
designated as such to avoid an accounting mismatch or to enable performance evaluation where a 
group of financial assets is managed by key management personnel on a fair value basis in accordance 
with a documented risk management or investment strategy. Such assets are subsequently measured 
at fair value with changes in carrying amount being included in profit or loss. 
 

ii. Loans and receivables 
 
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are 
not quoted in an active market and are subsequently measured at amortised cost. Gains or losses are 
recognised in profit or loss through the amortisation process and when the financial asset is 
derecognised. 
 

iii. Held-to-maturity investments 
 
Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets that have fixed maturities and fixed 
or determinable payments, and it is the Group’s intention to hold these investments to maturity. They 
are subsequently measured at amortised cost. Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss through 
the amortisation process and when the financial asset is derecognised. 
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iv. Available-for-sale investments 
 
Available-for-sale investments are non-derivative financial assets that are either not capable of being 
classified into other categories of financial assets due to their nature or they are designated as such by 
management. They comprise investments in the equity of other entities where there is neither a fixed 
maturity nor fixed or determinable payments. 
 
They are subsequently measured at fair value with any remeasurements other than impairment losses 
and foreign exchange gains and losses recognised in other comprehensive income. When the financial 
asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss pertaining to that asset previously recognised in 
other comprehensive income is reclassified into profit or loss. 
 
Available-for-sale financial assets are classified as non-current assets when they are not expected to 
be sold within 12 months after the end of the reporting period. All other available-for-sale financial 
assets are classified as current assets. 
 
 

v. Financial liabilities 
 
Non-derivative financial liabilities other than financial guarantees are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost. Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss through the amortisation process and 
when the financial liability is derecognised. 

 
Impairment 
A financial asset (or a group of financial assets) is deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there is objective 
evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events (a “loss event”) having occurred, which has an 
impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset(s). 
 
In the case of available-for-sale financial assets, a significant or prolonged decline in the market value of the 
instrument is considered to constitute a loss event. Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss 
immediately. Also, any cumulative decline in fair value previously recognised in other comprehensive income 
is reclassified to profit or loss at this point. 
 
In the case of financial assets carried at amortised cost, loss events may include: indications that the debtors 
or a group of debtors are experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or 
principal payments; indications that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; and changes 
in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults. 
 
For financial assets carried at amortised cost (including loans and receivables), a separate allowance account is 
used to reduce the carrying amount of financial assets impaired by credit losses. After having taken all possible 
measures of recovery, if management establishes that the carrying amount cannot be recovered by any 
means, at that point the written-off amounts are charged to the allowance account or the carrying amount of 
impaired financial assets is reduced directly if no impairment amount was previously recognised in the 
allowance account. 
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When the terms of financial assets that would otherwise have been past due or impaired have been 
renegotiated, the Group recognises the impairment for such financial assets by taking into account the original 
terms as if the terms have not been renegotiated so that the loss events that have occurred are duly 
considered. 
 
Derecognition 
Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to receipt of cash flows expire, or the asset is 
transferred to another party whereby the entity no longer has any significant continuing involvement in the 
risks and benefits associated with the asset. Financial liabilities are derecognised when the related obligations 
are discharged, cancelled or have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability 
extinguished or transferred to another party and the fair value of consideration paid, including the transfer of 
non-cash assets or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss. 
 
Impairment of Assets 
At the end of each reporting period, the Group assesses whether there is any indication that an asset may be 
impaired. The assessment will include the consideration of external and internal sources of information, 
including dividends received from subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures deemed to be out of pre-
acquisition profits. If such an indication exists, an impairment test is carried out on the asset by comparing the 
recoverable amount of the asset, being the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in 
use, to the asset’s carrying amount. Any excess of the asset’s carrying amount over its recoverable amount is 
recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount in accordance with 
another Standard (e.g. in accordance with the revaluation model in AASB 116:   Property, Plant and 
Equipment). Any impairment loss of a revalued asset is treated as a revaluation decrease in accordance with 
that other Standard. 
 
Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the 
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. 
 
Impairment testing is performed annually for goodwill, intangible assets with indefinite lives and intangible 
assets not yet available for use. 
 
Intangibles Other Than Goodwill 
IT Research and Development 
Expenditure during the research phase of a project is recognised as an expense when incurred. Development 
costs are capitalised only when technical feasibility studies identify that the project is expected to deliver 
future economic benefits and these benefits can be measured reliably. IT development costs are amortised 
over 5 years using the prime cost method. 
 
Employee Benefits 
Short-Term Employee Benefits 
Provision is made for the Group’s obligation for short-term employee benefits. Short-term employee 
benefits are benefits (other than termination benefits) that are expected to be settled wholly before 12 
months after the end of the annual reporting period in which the employees render the related service, 
including wages, salaries and sick leave. Short-term employee benefits are measured at the 
(undiscounted) amounts expected to be paid when the obligation is settled. 
 
 
The Group’s obligations for short-term employee benefits such as wages, salaries, superannuation and 
leave are recognised as a part of current trade and other payables in the statement of financial position. 
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The Group’s obligations for employees’ annual leave and long service leave entitlements are recognised 
as provisions in the statement of financial position. 
 
Other Long-Term Employee Benefits 
At this stage there are no long-term leave entitlements. 
 
Equity-Settled Compensation 
The Group provides compensation benefits to employees (including Directors) of the Group in the form of 
share-based payment transactions, whereby employees render services in exchange for shares or rights 
over shares (‘equity-settled transactions’). 
 
The cost of these equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value at 
the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined by a Black Scholes model. The cost of 
equity-settled transactions is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the 
period in which the performance conditions are fulfilled, ending on the date on which the relevant 
employees become fully entitled to the award (‘vesting date’). 
 
The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at each reporting date until vesting 
date reflects (i) the extent to which the vesting period has expired and (ii) the number of awards that, in 
the opinion of the Directors of the Company, will ultimately vest. This opinion is formed based on the best 
available information at balance date. No adjustment is made for the likelihood of market performance 
conditions being met as the effect of these conditions is included in the determination of fair value at 
grant date. 
 
No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for awards where vesting is 
conditional upon a market condition. Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a 
minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been modified. In addition, an expense is 
recognised for any increase in the value of the transaction as a result of the modification, as measured at 
the date of modification. 
 
Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and 
any expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately. However, if a new award is 
substituted for the cancelled award and designated as a replacement award on the date that it is granted, 
the cancelled and new award are treated as if they were a modification of the original award, as described 
in the previous paragraph.  
 
The dilutive effect, if any, of outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in the 
computation of earnings per share. 
 
Provisions 
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal or constructive obligation, as a result of past events, 
for which it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will result, and that outflow can be reliably 
measured. 
 
Provisions are measured using the best estimate of the amounts required to settle the obligation at the 
end of the reporting period. 
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Cash and Cash Equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits available on demand with banks, other short-
term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less, and bank overdrafts. Bank 
overdrafts are reported within short-term borrowings in current liabilities in the statement of financial 
position. 
 
Revenue and Other Income 
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable after taking into account 
any trade discounts and volume rebates allowed. When the inflow of consideration is deferred, it is 
treated as the provision of financing and is discounted at a rate of interest that is generally accepted in 
the market for similar arrangements. The difference between the amount initially recognised and the 
amount ultimately received is interest revenue. 
 
Subscription Income 
Revenue from subscriptions is recognised over the period which the relevant service is provided. 
 
Interest Revenue 
Interest revenue is recognised using the effective interest rate method. 
 
Rendering of Services 
Revenue in relation to rendering of services depends on whether the outcome of the services can be 
measured reliably. If this is the case, then the stage of completion of the service is used to determine the 
appropriate level of revenue to be recognised in the period. If the outcome cannot be reliably measured, 
then revenue is recognised to the extent of expenses recognised that are recoverable. 
 
Trade and Other Receivables 
Trade and other receivables include amounts due from customers for goods sold and services performed 
in the ordinary course of business. Receivables expected to be collected within 12 months of the end of 
the reporting period are classified as current assets. All other receivables are classified as non-current 
assets. 
 
Trade and other receivables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method, less any provision for impairment. 
 
Trade and Other Payables 
Trade and other payables represent the liabilities for goods and services received by the entity that 
remain unpaid at the end of the reporting period. The balance is recognised as a current liability with the 
amounts normally paid within 30 days of recognition of the liability. 
 
Goods and Services Tax (GST) 
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST), except 
where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office (ATO).  
 
Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net 
amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO is included with other receivables or payables in 
the statement of financial position. 
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Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or 
financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO are presented as operating cash 
flows included in receipts from customers or payments to suppliers. 
 
Comparative Figures 
When required by Accounting Standards, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to changes 
in presentation for the current financial year. 
 
Where the Group retrospectively applies an accounting policy, makes a retrospective restatement or 
reclassifies items in its financial statements, an additional (third) statement of financial position as at the 
beginning of the preceding period in addition to the minimum comparative financial statements is 
presented. 
 
Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments 
The Directors evaluate estimates and judgements incorporated into the financial statements based on 
historical knowledge and best available current information. Estimates assume a reasonable expectation 
of future events and are based on current trends and economic data, obtained both externally and within 
the Group. 
 
Key Estimates 
Capitalisation of development costs 
Development costs associated with intangible assets are only capitalised by the Group when it can 
demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing the asset so that the asset will be available for use or 
sale, how the asset will generate future economic benefits and the ability to measure reliably the 
expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development. 
 
Key Judgements 
Share-based payment transactions 
The Directors measure the cost of equity-settled share-based payment transactions by reference to the 
fair value of the equity instruments at grant date. The fair value is determined by an external valuer using 
the Black Scholes Model simulation. The accounting estimates and assumptions relating to equity-settled 
share-based payments would have no impact on the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the 
annual reporting period but may impact expenses and equity. 
 
Revenue 
The Directors have assessed the impact of AASB 15: Revenue from Contracts with Customers on the 
financial statements and have determined that other than unearned revenue, the Group has recognised 
revenue to depict the transfer of services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to 
which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for the services. 
 
Unearned revenue 
The Directors have assessed the impact of AASB 15: Revenue from Contracts with Customers on the 
financial statements and have determined that unearned revenue reflects the value of consideration that 
has or will be received before the transfer of services is made to customers. 
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New and Amended Accounting Policies Adopted by the Group 
 
AASB 2020-3: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Annual Improvements 2018–2020 and 
Other Amendments 
 
The Entity adopted AASB 2020-3 which makes some small amendments to a number of standards 
including the following: AASB 1, AASB 3, AASB 9, AASB 116, AASB 137 and AASB 141.The adoption of the 
amendment did not have a material impact on the financial statements. 
 
AASB 2021-7a: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Effective Date of Amendments to AASB 
10 and AASB 128 and Editorial Corrections. 
 
AASB 2020-7a makes various editorial corrections to a number of standards effective for reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2022. The adoption of the amendment did not have a material impact on 
the financial statements. 
 

NOTE 2. Parent Information     
The following information has been extracted from the books and records of the financial information of 
the parent entity and has been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards. 
  2023  2022 
Statement of Financial Position  $  $ 
     
ASSETS     
Current Assets  2,526,996  1,984,605 
Non-Current Assets  4,234,772  4,725,228 
TOTAL ASSETS  6,761,768  6,709,833 
     
LIABILITIES     
Current Liabilities  -  - 
Non-Current Liabilities  -  - 
TOTAL LIABILITIES  -  - 
     
EQUITY     
Issued Capital  6,516,861  6,516,861 
Share Based Payments Reserve  206,809  206,809 
Retained Earnings/(Accumulated Losses)   38,098  (13,837) 
TOTAL EQUITY  6,761,768  6,709,833 
     
Statement of Profit or Loss     
Total profit/(loss)  59,361  (205,593) 
     
Guarantees 
Aeeris Ltd did not enter into any deed of cross guarantees during the reporting period. 
 
Contingent Liabilities 
Aeeris Ltd does not have any contingent liabilities. 
 
Contractual Commitments 
Aeeris Ltd does not have any contractual commitments. 
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Consolidated 
30-Jun-2023

Consolidated 
30-Jun-2022

NOTE 3. Revenue and Other Income $ $ 
Revenue from Ordinary Activities  
Sales Revenue: 
Subscription Income 2,128,352 1,958,764 
Rendering of services 450,831 251,765 

2,579,183 2,210,529 
Other income: 
Interest received 59,361 1,266 
Research and development refund 389,457 469,965 

448,818 471,231 

Total revenue and other income 3,028,001 2,681,760 

NOTE 4. Employee Benefits Expense 

Total wages, salary, super and employee expense 1,552,588 1,237,189 

NOTE 5. Other Expenses from Ordinary Activities 
Expenses included in other expenses 
Internet & Hosting Charges 
Legal Costs 
Travelling & Accommodation 
Corporate Expenses 
Corporate Secretarial 
Other Administration & Operating Costs 

138,083 
11,854 

9,344 
58,583 
32,755 

255,799 

130,248 
5,800 

20,955 
155,316 

30,945 
272,981 

Total Other Expenses 506,418 616,245 

NOTE 6. Income Tax Expense 
The components of tax (expense)/income comprise: 
Current year tax expense - - 
Recoupment of prior year tax losses - - 
Income Tax Expense for the year - - 

NOTE 7. Key Management Personnel Compensation 

Refer to the remuneration report contained in the Directors’ report for details of the remuneration paid 
or payable to each member of the Group’s key management personnel (KMP) for the year ended 30 June 
2023. 

The totals of remuneration paid to KMP of the Company and the Group during the year are as follows: 

Short-term employee benefits 233,600 195,912 
Share-based payments - - 
Total KMP compensation 233,600 195,912 
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Short-term employee benefits     
These amounts include fees and benefits paid to the executive chair and non-executive Directors as well 
as all salary, paid leave benefits, fringe benefits and cash bonuses awarded to executive Directors and 
other KMP. 
 
Share-based Payments     
These amounts represent the expense related to the participation of KMP in equity-settled benefit 
schemes as measured by the fair value of the options, rights and shares granted on grant date. 
     
Further information in relation to KMP remuneration can be found in the Directors’ report. 
     

 
 Consolidated 

30-Jun-2023 
 Consolidated 

30-Jun-2022 
  $  $ 
NOTE 8. Auditors’ Remuneration     
     
Remuneration of the auditor for:     

• Auditing or reviewing the financial statements  22,964  19,000 
     
NOTE 9. Dividends     
 
No dividends were declared or paid during the 2023 financial year. 
     
NOTE 10. Earnings Per Share     
     
Basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share (cents)  (0.26)  (0.31) 
     
(Loss)/earnings used to calculate basic and diluted 
(loss)/earnings per share ($) 

  
(186,776) 

  
(211,295) 

     
Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in 
the calculation of basic and diluted loss per share 

  
71,583,858 

  
68,189,474 

     
The potential ordinary shares, being its options granted, are not considered dilutive as the conversion of 
these options would result in a decrease in the net gain/(loss) per share. 
     
NOTE 11. Cash and Cash Equivalents     
     
Cash at Bank  2,581,492  2,739,215 
     
     
Reconciliation of cash 
 

 
  

 

Cash and Cash Equivalents reported in the statement of cash flows are reconciled to the equivalent items 
in the statement of financial position as follows: 
     
Cash at Bank  2,581,492  2,739,215 
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 Consolidated 

30-Jun-2023 
 Consolidated 

30-Jun-2022 
NOTE 12. Trade and Other Receivables  $  $ 
Current     
Trade Receivables  247,267  300,519 
GST Paid  39,764  37,469 
Total current trade and other receivables  287,031  337,988 
 
Credit Risk 
The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk with respect to any single counterparty or group 
of counterparties other than those receivables specifically provided for and mentioned within Note 25. 
The class of assets described as “trade and other receivables” is considered to be the main source of 
credit risk related to the Group. 
 
The following table details the Group’s trade and other receivables exposure to credit risk with ageing 
analysis and impairment provided for thereon. Amounts are considered as “past due” when the debt has 
not been settled, with the terms and conditions agreed between the Group and the customer or 
counterparty to the transaction. Receivables that are past due are assessed for impairment by 
ascertaining solvency of the debtors and are provided for where there are specific circumstances 
indicating that the debt may not be fully repaid to the Group. 
 
The balances of receivables that remain within initial trade terms are considered to be of high credit 
quality. 
 

 
Gross 

Amount 

Past Due 
and 

Impaired 

Past Due but Not Impaired  
(Days Overdue) Within Initial Trade 

Terms 
2023   <30 31-60 61-90 >90  
Trade 
Receivables 247,266 - 161,094 843 65,088 20,241 161,094 
Total 247,266 - 161,094 843 65,088 20,241 161,094 
        
2022   <30 31-60 61-90 >90  
Trade 
Receivables 300,519 - 298,688 - - 1,831 298,688 
Total 300,519 - 298,688 - - 1,831 298,688 
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NOTE 13. Interests in Subsidiary 
 

 
 

 
 

Subsidiary 
The subsidiary listed below has share capital consisting solely of ordinary shares which are held directly by 
the Group. The proportion of ownership interests held equals the voting rights held by the Group. The 
subsidiary’s principal place of business is also its country of incorporation. 

Name of Subsidiary Principle Place of Business Ownership Interest Held by the 
Group 

  2023 2022 
Early Warning Network Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100% 

 

 

 Consolidated 
30-Jun-2023 

$ 

 Consolidated 
30-Jun-2022 

$ 
NOTE 14. Property, Plant and Equipment     
     
Office Equipment     
At cost  82,235  44,700 
Accumulated depreciation  (76,942)  (39,542) 
  5,293  5,158 
     
Camera Equipment     
At cost  50,288  50,288 
Accumulated depreciation  (49,696)  (49,302) 
  592  986 
     
Furniture and Fittings     
At cost  7,890  7,890 
Accumulated depreciation  (4,265)  (3,583) 
  3,625  4,307 
     
Motor Vehicles     
At cost  12,000  12,000 
Accumulated depreciation  (10,862)  (10,483) 
  1,138  1,517 
     
Total Property, Plant and Equipment  10,648  11,968 
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 Consolidated 
30-Jun-2023 

$ 

 Consolidated 
30-Jun-2022 

$ 
NOTE 15. Trade and Other Payables     
Current     
Trade Payables  60,282  37,426 
Superannuation Liability  14,915  9,602 
GST Collected  45,346  47,145 
PAYG Withholding  30,079  19,823 
Payroll Tax  23,085  - 
Sundry Creditors  3,063  1,078 
Unearned Income  357,342  470,944 
  534,112  586,018 
     
NOTE 16. Provisions     
Current     
Annual Leave Provision     
Opening Balance at 1 July  66,279  35,539 
Net movement during the year  35,310  30,740 
Balance at 30 June  101,589  66,279 
     
Annual Leave Provision     
Provision for employee benefits represents amounts accrued for annual leave and long service leave. 
The current portion for this provision includes the total amount accrued for annual leave entitlements 
that have vested due to employees having completed the required period of service. Based on past 
experience, the Group does not expect the full amount of annual leave balances classified as current 
liabilities to be settled within the next 12 months. However, these amounts must be classified as current 
liabilities since the Group does not have an unconditional right to defer the settlement of these amounts 
in the event employees wish to use their leave entitlement. 
     
     
Non-Current     
Long Service Leave Provision     
Opening Balance at 1 July  60,793  49,534 
Net movement during the year  3,309  11,259 
Balance at 30 June  64,102  60,793 
     
Long Service Leave Provision     
The non-current portion for the provision includes the total amount accrued for long service leave 
entitlements due to employees having completed between 5 to 10 years of service. The group does not 
expect the full amount of long service leave balances to be classified as current liabilities until any 
employees have completed 10 years of service. 
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 Consolidated 
30-Jun-2023 

$ 

 Consolidated 
30-Jun-2022 

$ 
NOTE 17. Issued Capital     
71,583,858 (2022: 71,583,858) Fully Paid Ordinary Shares  6,516,861  6,516,861 
     

 

 Consolidated 
30-Jun-2023 

No. 

 Consolidated 
30-Jun-2022 

No. 
Ordinary Shares     
At the beginning of the reporting period  71,583,858  59,973,858 
Shares Issued – 11 October 2021  -  10,840,000 
Shares issued – 6 December 2021  -  770,000 
At the end of the reporting period  71,583,858  71,583,858 
     
Ordinary shareholders participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding-up of the parent entity in 
proportion to the number of shares held. 
 
At the shareholders’ meeting each ordinary share is entitled to one vote when a poll is called, otherwise 
each shareholder has one vote on a show of hands. 
 
     
Options     
For more information relating to the Aeeris Ltd employee option plan, including details of options issued, 
exercised and lapsed during the financial year and the options outstanding at year-end, refer to Note 22. 
 
For information relating to share options issued to key management personnel during the financial year, 
refer to Note 22. 
 
Capital Management 
Management controls the capital of the Group in order to maintain a sustainable debt to equity ratio, 
generate long-term shareholder value and ensure that the Group can fund its operations and continue as 
a going concern. 
 
The Group’s debt and capital include financial liabilities and ordinary share capital and is not subject to 
any externally imposed capital requirements. Management effectively manages the Group’s capital by 
assessing the Group’s financial risks and adjusting its capital structure in response to changes in these 
risks and in the market. These responses include the management of debt levels, distributions to 
shareholders and share issues. 
 
NOTE 18. Capital and Leasing Commitments     
There are no capital or leasing commitments at the date of this report. 
     
NOTE 19. Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets     
The Group does not have any contingent liabilities or contingent assets. 
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Note 20. Operating Segments     
The Group operates predominantly in one business and one geographical segment being early warning 
notifications within Australia. 

  

Consolidated 
30-Jun-2023 

$ 

 Consolidated 
30-Jun-2022 

$ 
Revenue     
Operating revenue  2,579,183  2,210,529 
Interest revenue  59,361  1,266 
Research and development refund  389,457  469,965 
Total revenue  3,028,001  2,681,760 
     
Expenses     
Other expenses  (3,175,922)  (2,882,840) 
Depreciation, amortisation & impairment expenses  (38,855)  (10,215) 
Total expenses  (3,214,777)  (2,893,055) 
     
Segment results  (186,776)  (211,295) 
     
Assets     
Current assets  2,893,251  3,091,994 
Non-current assets  10,648  11,968 
Total Assets  2,903,899  3,103,962 
     
Current Liabilities  635,701  652,297 
Non-current liabilities  64,102  60,793 
Total Liabilities  699,803  713,090 
     
Net Assets  2,204,096  2,390,872 
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NOTE 21. Cash Flow Information  

Consolidated 
30-Jun-2023 

$ 

 Consolidated 
30-Jun-2022 

$ 
     
Reconciliation of Cash Flow from Operating Activities     
(Loss) during the year  (186,776)  (211,295) 
     
Non-Cash flows     
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment  38,855  10,215 
Share based payments  -  125,591 
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of the effects of 
purchase and disposal of subsidiaries   

 
 

Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables  50,957  (136,200) 
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments  (9,937)  52,832 
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables  (51,906)  19,515 
Increase in provisions  38,619  41,999 
Cash flows used in operating activities  (120,188)  (97,343) 

 
NOTE 22. Share-Based Payments      
A summary of the movements of all options issued is as follows:  
      

  

Consolidated 
30-Jun-2023 

No. 

Consolidated 
30-Jun-2023 

$ 

Consolidated 
30-Jun-2022 

No. 

Consolidated 
30-Jun-2022 

$ 
Options Outstanding as at 1 July  3,540,000 - - - 
Granted during the year  - - 3,540,000 125,591 
Options Outstanding at 30 June  3,540,000  3,540,000  
      
All options granted in the prior year were issued to Veritas Securities Limited at an exercise price of $0.30 
and expire on 6 December 2025. The options were issued in consideration for corporate advisory services 
provided to the Company as approved by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting held on 30 
November 2021. 
     
Performance Rights Outstanding as at 1 July  3,912,500  3,312,500 
Performance Rights issued during the year  6,745,000  600,000 
Performance Rights converted during the year  -  - 
Performance Rights expired/unvested during the year  (3,312,500)  - 
Performance Rights Outstanding at 30 June  7,345,000  3,912,500 
     
The value of the performance rights issued during the year were $nil (2022: $nil). There were no shares 
granted to key management personnel during the year. These performance rights are able to be 
converted if the company achieves annual audited revenue of $4 million within 3 years from issue or in 
the event of a successful takeover of the Company. 
 
NOTE 23. Events after the Reporting Period     
There have been no events after the reporting period. 
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NOTE 24. Related Party Transactions 
The Group’s main related parties are as follows: 
• Key Management Personnel

Any person(s) having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the 
activities of the entity, directly or indirectly, including any director (whether executive or 
otherwise) of that entity are considered key management personnel. 
For details of disclosures relating to key management personnel, refer to Note 7. 

• Entities subject to significant influence by the Group
An entity that has the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of an 
entity, but does not have control over those policies, is an entity that holds significant influence. 
Significant influence may be gained by share ownership statute or agreement. 

• Other Related Parties
Other related parties include entities controlled by the ultimate parent entity and entities over 
which key management personnel have joint control. 

Transactions with Related Parties 
Transactions between related parties are on normal commercial terms and conditions no more favourable 
than those available to other parties unless otherwise stated. 

The following transactions occurred with related parties: 

Kerry Plowright through his controlled entity WASPZ Pty Ltd, was paid $24,000 (2022: $24,000) for 
director’s fees including superannuation and $110,000 (2022: $115,312) for consulting services rendered 
during the year. 

Bryce Reynolds through his related party entity Bluestar Management Pty Ltd, was paid $24,000 (2022: 
$24,000) for director’s fees including superannuation during the year. 

Nathan Young through his related party entity Mychi Le Investments Pty Ltd, was paid $24,000 (2022: 
$24,000) for director’s fees including superannuation during the year. 

Elissa Hansen through her related party entity, CoSec Services Pty Ltd was paid $51,600 (2022: $8,600) for 
Company Secretarial services and director’s fees during the year. 

Margo Plowright, the spouse of Kerry Plowright, was paid $80,000 (2022: $80,463) for services rendered 
during the year. 



AEERIS LTD 
ABN 18 166 705 595 

AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 

 

Aeeris Ltd             ABN 18 166 705 595 Page 38  

 
NOTE 25. Financial Risk Management     
The Group’s financial instruments consist mainly of deposits with banks, accounts receivables and 
payables and loans to subsidiaries. 
 
The totals for each category of financial instruments, measured in accordance with AASB 139: Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement as detailed in the accounting policies to these financial 
statements, are as follows: 
   Consolidated Group 
  Note 2023 2022 
   $ $ 
Financial Assets     
Cash and Cash Equivalents  11 2,581,492 2,739,215 
Trade and Other Receivables  12 287,031 337,988 
Total Financial Assets   2,868,523 3,077,203 
     
Financial Liabilities     
Trade and Other Payables  15 534,112 586,018 
Total Financial Liabilities   534,112 586,018 
     
 
Financial Risk Exposures and Management 
 
The Group has no exposure through financial instruments and therefore has minimal credit risk and 
liquidity risk. There have been no substantive changes in the types of risks the Group is exposed to, how 
these risks arise, or the Board’s objectives, policies and processes for managing or measuring the risks 
from the previous period. 
 
a) Credit Risk 

 
Exposure to credit risk relating to financial assets arises from the potential non-performance by 
counterparties of contract obligations that could lead to a financial loss to the Group. 
 
Credit risk is managed through the maintenance of procedures (such as the utilisation of systems for the 
approval, granting and renewal of credit limits, regular monitoring of exposures against such limits and 
monitoring of the financial stability of significant customers and counterparties), ensuring to the extent 
possible that customers and counterparties to transactions are of sound credit worthiness. Such 
monitoring is used in assessing receivables for impairment. Depending on the division within the Group, 
credit terms are generally 30 days from the invoice date. 
 
Credit Risk Exposures 
 
The maximum exposure to credit risk by class of recognised financial assets at the end of the reporting 
period, excluding the value of any collateral or other security held, is equivalent to the carrying amount 
and classification of those financial assets (net of any provisions) as presented in the statement of 
financial position. Credit risk also arises through the provision of financial guarantees, as approved at 
board level, given to parties securing the liabilities of certain subsidiaries. 
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The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk with any single counterparty or group of 
counterparties. Details with respect to credit risk of trade and other receivables are provided in Note 12. 
 
Trade and other receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are considered to be of high credit 
quality. Aggregates of such amounts are detailed in Note 12. 
 
b) Liquidity Risk 

 
Liquidity risk arises from the possibility that the Group might encounter difficulty in settling its debts or 
otherwise meeting its obligations related to financial liabilities. The Group manages this risk through the 
following mechanisms: 
• preparing forward-looking cash flow analysis in relation to its operating, investing and financing 

activities; 
• obtaining funding from a variety of sources; 
• maintaining a reputable credit profile; 
• managing credit risk related to financial assets; 
• only investing surplus cash with major financial institutions; and 
• comparing the maturity profile of financial liabilities with the realisation profile of financial assets. 
 
Cash flows realised from financial assets reflect management’s expectation as to the timing of realisation. 
Actual timing may therefore differ from that disclosed. The timing of cash flows presented in the table to 
settle financial liabilities reflects the earliest contractual settlement dates and does not reflect 
management’s expectations that banking facilities will be rolled forward. 

 
Consolidated 

Group Within 1 Year 1 to 5 Years Over 5 Years Total 

 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 
Financial 
Liabilities due for 
Payment     

 
 
 

 
 
   

Trade and other 
Payables 

 
534,112 

 
586,018 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
534,112 

 
586,018 

Total Expected 
Outflows 

 
534,112 

 
586,018 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
534,112 

 
586,018 

Financial Assets – 
Cash Flows 
Realisable 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

Trade and other 
Receivables 

 
287,031 

 
337,988 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
287,031 

 
337,988 

Total anticipated 
inflows 

 
287,031 

 
337,988 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
287,031 

 
337,988 

Net (outflow) of 
financial 
instruments 

 
 
 

(247,081) 

 
 
 

(248,030) 

 
 
 

- 

 
 
 

- 

 
 
 

- 

 
 
 

- 

 
 
 

(247,081) 

 
 
 

(248,030) 
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Fair Value Estimations 
The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are presented in the following table and can be 
compared to their carrying amounts as presented in the statement of financial position. Refer to Note 26 
for detailed disclosures regarding the fair value measurement of the Group’s financial assets and financial 
liabilities. 

Consolidated Group Note 
2023 2022 

Carrying 
Amount Fair Value Carrying 

Amount Fair Value 

Financial Assets      
Cash and Cash 
Equivalents 11  

2,581,492 
 

2,581,492 
 

2,739,215 
 

2,739,215 
Trade and Other 
Receivables 

 
12 

 
287,031 

 
287,031 

 
337,988 

 
337,988 

Total Financial Assets  2,868,523 2,868,523 3,077,203 3,077,203 
      
Financial Liabilities      
Trade and Other 
Payables 

 
15 

 
534,112 

 
534,112 

 
586,018 

 
586,018 

Total Financial 
Liabilities   

534,112 
 

534,112 
 

586,018 
 

586,018 
      

Cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, and trade and other payables are short-term 
instruments in nature whose carrying amounts are equivalent to their fair values. 
 
NOTE 26. Fair Value Measurements     
The Group does not subsequently measure any liabilities at fair value on a non-recurring basis. 
 
Fair Value Hierarchy 
AASB 13:   Fair Value Measurement requires the disclosure of fair value information by level of the fair 
value hierarchy, which categorises fair value measurements into one of three possible levels based on the 
lowest level that an input that is significant to the measurement can be categorised into as follows: 
 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 
 

Measurements based on 
quoted prices in active markets 
for identical assets or liabilities 

that the entity can access at the 
measurement date. 

Measurements based on inputs 
other than quoted prices 

included in Level 1 that are 
observable for the asset or 
liability, either directly or 

indirectly. 

 
 
 

Measurements based on 
unobservable inputs for the asset or 

liability. 
     
The fair values of assets and liabilities that are not traded in an active market are determined using one or 
more valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximise, to the extent possible, the use of 
observable market data. If all significant inputs required to measure fair value are observable, the asset or 
liability is included in Level 2. If one or more significant inputs are not based on observable market data, 
the asset or liability is included in Level 3. 
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Valuation Techniques 
The Group selects a valuation technique that is appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient 
data is available to measure fair value. The availability of sufficient and relevant data primarily depends 
on the specific characteristics of the asset or liability being measured. The valuation techniques selected 
by the Group are consistent with one or more of the following valuation approaches: 

• Market Approach: valuation techniques that use prices and other relevant information generated
by market transactions for identical or similar assets or liabilities;

• Income Approach: valuation techniques that convert estimated future cash flows or income and
expenses into a single discounted present value;

• Cost Approach: valuation techniques that reflect the current replacement cost of an asset at its
current service capacity.

Each valuation technique requires inputs that reflect the assumptions that buyers and sellers would use 
when pricing the asset or liability, including assumptions about risks. When selecting a valuation 
technique, the Group gives priority to those techniques that maximise the use of observable inputs and 
minimise the use of unobservable inputs. Inputs that are developed using market data (such as publicly 
available information on actual transactions) and reflect the assumptions that buyers and sellers would 
generally use when pricing the asset or liability are considered observable, whereas inputs for which 
market data is not available and therefore are developed using the best information available about such 
assumptions are considered unobservable. 

The following tables provide the fair values of the Group’s assets and liabilities measured and recognised 
on a recurring basis after initial recognition and their categorisation within the fair value hierarchy: 

30 June 2023 
Recurring Fair Value Measurements Note Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
Financial Assets 
Cash and Cash Equivalents 11 2,581,492 - - 2,581,492 
Trade and Other Receivables 12 287,031 - - 287,031 
Prepayments 24,728 - - 24,728 
Total Financial Assets 2,893,251 - - 2,893,251 

Non-Financial Assets 
Property Plant and Equipment 14 10,648 - - 10,648 
Total Non-Financial Assets 10,648 - - 10,648 

Liabilities 
Trade and other Payables 15 534,112 - - 534,112 
Provisions 16 165,691 - - 165,691 
Total Liabilities 699,803 - - 699,803 

There were no transfers between Level 1 and level 2 for assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a 
recurring basis during the reporting period (2022: no transfers). 



AEERIS LTD 
ABN 18 166 705 595 

AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 

Aeeris Ltd  ABN 18 166 705 595 Page 42 

Note 27. Reserves 

Share based payments reserve 
The share-based payments reserve records items recognised as expenses on valuation of employee share 
based payments. 

Consolidated 
30-Jun-2023 

$ 

Consolidated 
30-Jun-2022 

$ 

Opening Balance 206,809 81,218 
Options and performance rights issued during the year - 125,591
Balance as at 30 June 206,809 206,809 

NOTE 28. Accumulated Losses 
Accumulated losses at the beginning of the financial year (4,332,798) (4,121,503) 
Net (loss) attributable to members of the group (186,776) (211,295) 
Accumulated losses at the end of the financial year (4,519,574) (4,332,798) 

NOTE 29. Company Details 
The registered office of the Company is: 

Level 8 
210 George Street 
SYDNEY NSW 2000 

The principal place of business is: 

21 Longboard Circuit 
KINGSCLIFF NSW 2487 
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Directors’ Declaration 

In accordance with a resolution of the Directors of Aeeris Ltd and its controlled entities, the Directors of the 
Group declare that: 

1. The financial statements and notes, as set out on pages 13 to 42, are in accordance with the
Corporations Act 2001 and:

(a) comply with Australian Accounting Standards, which, as stated in accounting policy Note 1 to the
financial statements, constitutes compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS); and

(b) give a true and fair view of the financial position as at 30 June 2023 and of the performance for
the year ended on that date of the consolidated group.

2. In the director’s opinion there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Group will be able to pay its
debts as and when they become due and payable.

3. The Directors have been given the declarations required by s 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 from
the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer.

Chairman:   _____________________________ 
   Mr Bryce Reynolds 

Dated this 24th day of August 2023 



 

 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE OWNERS OF 
 AEERIS LIMITED AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES 

 ABN 18 166 705 595 
 

Report on the Financial Report 

Opinion 

We have audited the accompanying financial report of Aeeris Limited (the Company) and its controlled entities (the 

Group), which comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2023, the consolidated 

statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of 

cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of 

accounting policies and the directors’ declaration. 

In our opinion the accompanying financial report of the Group is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, 

including: 

a. giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2023 and of its financial 

performance for the year then ended; and 

b. complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001. 

The financial report also complies with the International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in Note 1. 

Basis for Opinion  

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those 

standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of our 

report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the auditor independence requirements of the 

Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s 

APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial 

report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.  

We confirm that the independence declaration required by the Corporations Act 2001, which has been given to the 

directors of Aeeris Limited and controlled entities, would be in the same terms if given to the directors as at the 

time of this auditor’s report. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 

opinion.  

  



 

 

 

Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of 

the financial report for the year ended 30 June 2023. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of 

the financial report as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on 

these matters. 

 

Key Audit Matter How Our Audit Addressed the Key Audit Matter 

 
Revenue recognition – accuracy of revenue 
recorded  
 
Revenue represents a material balance and we 
have identified the following types of transactions 
and assertions related to revenue recognition 
which give rise to key risks:  

 

• the completeness of revenue recorded as a 
result of the reliance on output of the billing 
systems. 

 
Refer to note 1 – Basis of preparation (Critical 
accounting estimates and judgments). 

 
 
 
 
In responding to this area of focus, our audit approach 
included controls testing and substantive procedures 
covering, in particular: 

• testing control procedures in place around 
systems that bill revenue streams; 

• performing tests on the accuracy of customer 
bill generation on a sample basis and testing of 
a sample of the credits and discounts applied to 
enterprise customer bills; 

• testing cash receipts for a sample of customers 
back to the customer invoice; and 

• testing the costs associated to the delivery of 
sales. 
 

We also considered the application of the Group’s 
accounting policies to amounts billed. 

 
Based on our work, we noted no significant issues on 
the accuracy of revenue recorded in the year. 

 
  



 

 

 

Key Audit Matters (continued) 

Key Audit Matter How Our Audit Addressed the Key Audit Matter 

 
Going Concern 
 
Following previous operating losses and cash flow 
deficits, there is a heightened degree of judgement 
as to the group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern through the assessment period. 
 
Accordingly, we considered the appropriateness of 
the going concern assumption, the question as to 
whether there is a material uncertainty and the 
adequacy of management’s disclosure to be a key 
risk.  
 
 

 
 
 
We have challenged the key assumptions in 
management’s forecast cash flows for the next 12 
months (base case and downside possibilities) by: 
 

• comparing the cash flow forecasts with the 
Board approved budget, and obtaining 
explanations for any significant differences; 

• ensuring consistency between the forecasts in 
the group going concern model and those used 
in the asset value-in-use calculations for 
impairment assessment purposes; 

• assessing the historical accuracy of forecasts 
prepared by management; 

• testing the mechanical accuracy of the model 
used; 

• performing stress tests for a range of 
reasonably possible scenarios on 
management’s cash flow for the going concern 
period; 

• challenging management’s plans for mitigating 
any identified exposures, obtain additional 
sources of financing; and 

• considering whether the disclosures relating to 
going concern referred to in the basis of 
preparation section of the accounting policies 
are balanced, proportionate and clear. 

 
We have determined that there are no material 
uncertainties that may cast significant doubt on the 
group’s ability to continue as a going concern. 

There were no restrictions on our reporting of Key Audit matters.  

  



 

 

 

Other Information 

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included 

in the Group’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2023, but does not include the financial report and our 

auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly 

we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. In connection with our audit of the financial report, 

our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is 

materially inconsistent with the financial report or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be 

materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement 

of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Report 

The directors of the group are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view 

in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 and for such internal control as 

the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view 

and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. In preparing the financial report, the 

directors are responsible for assessing the ability of the Group to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as 

applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors 

either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 

with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 

can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably 

be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report. 

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional judgement and 

maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or 

error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 

sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 

misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 

collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 

are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 

effectiveness of the Group’s internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 

and related disclosures made by the directors. 

 

 



 

 

 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based 

on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that 

may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a 

material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related 

disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 

conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, 

future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the disclosures, 

and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events in a manner that 

achieves fair presentation. 

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business 

activities within the Group to express an opinion on the financial report. We are responsible for the 

direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit 

opinion. 

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit 

and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our 

audit. 

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 

regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably 

be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in 

the audit of the financial report of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these 

matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in 

extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the 

adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such 

communication. 

  



 

 

 

Report on the Remuneration Report 

We have audited the Remuneration Report included on pages 8 to 11 of the directors’ report for the year ended 30 

June 2023.  

In our opinion the remuneration report of Aeeris Limited and controlled entities for the year ended 30 June 2023, 

complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. 

Responsibilities  

The directors of the Group are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the Remuneration Report in 

accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the 

Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.  

 

 

 

MNSA Pty Ltd 

 
 

 
Mark Schiliro 
Director 

Sydney 
24th August 2023  



Type Security Number of
Securities

Number of
Security
Holders

ASX Listed Fully paid ordinary shares
Options exercisable at $0.30 and expiring
6 December 2025*

Unlisted

Unlisted

Unlisted

Employee Performance Rights Expiring
1 December 2025
Employee Performance Rights Expiring
15 December 2026

71.583,858
3,540,000

600,000

6,745,000

319
1

3

13

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION FOR
LISTED PUBLIC COMPANIES

Aeeris Ltd has the following securities on issue as at as at 4 September 2023:

SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

* Held by Veritas Consolidated Pty Ltd

Voting Rights
Each ordinary share is entitled to one vote when a poll is called, otherwise each member present at
a meeting or by proxy has one vote on a show of hands. There are no other classes of equity
securities that have voting rights.

Distribution of Shareholders as at 4 September 2023

Marketable Parcel
As at 4 September 2023, Aeeris Ltd had 51 shareholders holding less than a marketable parcel of
Aeeris shares based on the closing price of $0.10 on 4 September 2023.

On-Market Buy-back
Aeeris Ltd is not undertaking an on-market buy-back.

Fully Paid Ordinary Shares
Holding Ranges
1-1,000
1,001-5,000
5,001-10,000
10,001-100,000
100,001-99,999,999,999
TOTALS

Holders
28
23
73

127
68

Units
2,205

77,676
596,672

4,882,430
66,024,875

%
0.000
0.110

0.830
6.820

92.230
319 71,583,858 100.000

Number

LXXVAeeris Ltd | Annual Report 2023



Substantial Shareholders
The following shareholders have disclosed a substantial:

#   Includes the substantial shareholders associates’ holdings being K & M Plowright Super Pty Limited,
Waspz Pty Limited and Ms. Margo Plowright
*  Includes related parties

To 20 Largest Shareholders

Holder Name Number of
Shares

Kerry Plowright
Jetosea Pty Limited
K & M Plowright Super Pty Limited

32.7%
15.2%

12%

% Voting Power

23,407,803#

10,852,026

Bryce Reynolds*
Ms. Margot Plowright
DMX Capital Partners Limited
Waspz Pty Limited

8,564,780
5,361,320 7.5%

6.6%
6.2%

4,744,544
4,431,680
4,085,000 5.7%

Name

K & M PLOWRIGHT SUPER PTY LIMITED
JETOSEA PTY LIMITED
MR KERRY MAURICE PLOWRIGHT
JETOSEA PTY LTD
MS MARGO PLOWRIGHT
DMX CAPITAL PARTNERS LIMITED
WASPZ PTY LIMITED
CERTANE CT PTY LTD <L39 CAPITAL A/C>
VERITAS CONSOLIDATED PTY LTD
BLUESTAR MANAGEMENT PTY LTD
UBS NOMINEES PTY LTD
NATIONAL NOMINEES LIMITED
HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED
S H RAYBURN NOMINEES PTY LTD <S H RAYBURN SUPER FUND A/C>
MAD FISH MANAGEMENT PTY LTD
BLUESTAR MANAGEMENT PTY LTD
SYMINGTON PTY LTD
IRWIN BIOTECH NOMINEES PTY LTD <BIOA A/C>
MAMBAT PTY LTD <THE DAVID WHITING A/C>
J P MORGAN NOMINEES AUSTRALIA PTY LIMITED
NATHAN YOUNG
MEREWETHER CAPITAL PTY LTD

Total Securities of Top 20 Holdings
Total of Securities

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
20
20

8,564,780
6,100,000
5,782,298
4,752,026
4,715,770
4,431,680
4,085,000
3,375,000
2,838,962
1,645,000
1,530,357
1,465,000
1,000,000
1,000,000

712,237
627,358
600,000
556,250
513,596
500,000
500,000
500,000

55,795,314
71,583,858

11.965%
8.521%
8.078%
6.638%
6.588%
6.191%
5.707%
4.715%
3.966%
2.298%
2.138%
2.047%
1.397%
1.397%
0.995%
0.876%
0.838%
0.777%
0.717%
0.698%
0.698%
0.698%

77.944%

Number of
Ordinary

Shares Held
% of Issued

CapitalName
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CORPORATE DIRECTORY

Registered Office

Level 8, 210 George St,
Sydney NSW 2000

Phone +61 2 6674 5717
Website: www.aeeris.com

Directors

Bryce Reynolds
Chairman

Kerry Plowright
Chief Executive Officer

Elissa Hansen
Non-Executive Director

Nathan Young
Non-Executive Director

Company Secretary

Elissa Hansen

Aeeris Limited   
ACN 166 705 595

Share Registry

Boardroom Pty Ltd 
Level 8, 210 George St,
Sydney NSW 2000

Phone +61 2 9290 9600 

Corporate Advisor 

Veritas Securities Limited 
Level 4, 175 Macquarie Street 
Sydney NSW 2000 

Phone +61 2 8252 3201 

Auditor

Mark Schiliro & Associates (MNSA) Pty Ltd
Level 1, 283 George Street 
Sydney NSW 2000

ASX Code
AER

To view shareholder and company information, news announcements, background information on the
Aeeris businesses and historical information, visit our website at www.aeeris.com
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